Analysis of nutritional patterns in individuals at risk for the development of the metabolic syndrome assessed by a food frequency questionnaire

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Ernährungswissenschaften (Dr. troph.)

der

Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät III Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaften, Geowissenschaften und Informatik

> der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg

> > vorgelegt von

Frau Annett Frisch Geb. am 12.02.1982 in Halle

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Andreas Müller Prof. Dr. Dirk Müller-Wieland

Verteidigung am: 10.06.2013

Table of contents

Abbreviations	I
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Metabolic Syndrome	1
1.1.1. History of the Metabolic Syndrome	1
1.1.2. Definition of the Metabolic Syndrome	2
1.1.3. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome	3
1.2. Recommendations for the nutritional management of the metabolic syndrome	4
1.2.1 Recommendations for energy and nutrient intake	4
1.2.2. Guidelines for the intake of different food groups	7
2. Objectives	9
3. Methodology	10
3.1. Population and sampling	10
3.2. Dietary intake assessment	11
3.2.1. Coding and calculation procedures	13
3.3. Statistical analysis	
4. Results	16
4.1. Characteristics of the study population	
4.2. Extra-Coding of the individualized FFQ items	17
4.3. Nutrient and energy intake of the study population	20
4.3.1. Nutrient and energy intake in different age groups	22
4.4. Food choices and amounts of intakes	
4.4.1. Dietary patterns of male and female study participants	28
4.4.2. Food intake in different age groups	
4.5. Frequency of food intake in male and female study participants	37
4.6. Food intake amounts and frequency of intake compared to the national nutritional	
recommendations [62]	
4.6.1. Foods rich in carbohydrates	40
4.6.2. Fruits and vegetables	40
4.6.3. Milk, dairy products and cheese	
4.6.4. Meat and meat products, fish and eggs	41
4.6.5. Fats	41
4.6.6. Beverages	
4.6.7. Dietary patterns	42
4.7. Use of dietary supplements, sweeteners, dietetic foods and specific foods influencing	
lipid and glucose metabolism	43
4.7.1. Use of dietary supplements, sweeteners and dietetic foods in male and female	
study participants	43

4.7.2. Use of specific foods influencing lipid and glucose metabolism in males and females of the study . 44
4.7.3. Use of supplements, sweeteners and sugar substitutes, dietetic foods and specific
foods influencing lipid and glucose metabolism in different age groups
5. Discussion
5.1. Nutritional patterns of the LUPS cohort compared to results from national nutrition
surveys in Germany
5.1.1. Energy intake
5.1.2. Intake of nutrients
5.1.3. Intake of foods and food groups
5.1.4. Intake of supplements, sweeteners and dietetic food
6. Concluding Remarks
7. Summary
7. Zusammenfassung
8. References
9. List of tables
10. List of figures
11. Curriculum Vitae
12. Eidesstattliche Erklärung
13. Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

AACE	American Association of Clinical Endocrinology, American College of
	Endocrinology
BGS	Bundesgesundheitssurvey
BLS	Bundeslebensmittelschlüssel
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMR	Basal Metabolic Rate
BP	Blood pressure
BW	Body Weight
CI	Confidence Interval
CHD	Coronary Heart Disease
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DACH	Deutsche Akkreditierungsstelle Chemie
DGE	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung
DHA	Docosahexaenoic Acid
DNSG	Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group
EASD	European Association for the Study of Diabetes
EFQM	European Foundation for Quality Management
EGIR	European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance
EI	Energy Intake
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic Acid
F	Female
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation
FFQ	Food Frequency Questionnaire
HDL	High-density Lipoprotein
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
LDL	Low-density Lipoprotein
Lp(a)	Lipoprotein (a)
LUPS	Lipid and Glucose under Prospective Surveillance
Μ	Male
MetS	Metabolic Syndrome
MUFA	Monounsaturated Fatty Acids
NARI	Nutritional Intake in Risk Groups

NCEP-ATP III	National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III
NVS	Nationale Verzehrsstudie
n-3 FA	Omega - 3 Fatty Acids
n-6 FA	Omega - 6 Fatty Acids
OR	Odds Ratio
PAL	Physical Activity Level
PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids
r	Pearson Correlation Coefficient
RR	Relative Risk
SFA	Saturated Fatty Acids
SHIP	Study of Health in Pomerania
SSB	Sugar-sweetened Beverages
TG	Triglyceride
Trans FA	Trans-unsaturated Fatty Acids
T2D	Diabetes Mellitus Type 2
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
WHO	World Health Organisation
WHR	Waist Hip Ratio

1. Introduction

The metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a worldwide growing phenomenon in industrial nations, having an enormous impact on public health in terms of an increased risk for diseases like type 2 diabetes (T2D) and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) [1,2]. Ever since the discussion of a worldwide accepted definition is on-going for decades, meanwhile there is more or less a worldwide accepted definition of the MetS by a cluster of at least three out of five of the following symptoms which are an elevated blood glucose, high triglycerides, a reduced HDL-cholesterol, an elevated blood pressure and an increased waist circumference [3-9].

Epidemiological data have shown an significant increased risk for T2D, CVD and all-cause mortality in patients having the MetS [1,2]. Until now a main research focus is to identify people at higher risk for these chronic diseases at a very early stage to cut down the alarming numbers of T2D and CVD. Beside of a still poorly understood genetic impact the MetS is caused by physical inactivity and high caloric diets leading to overweight and obesity [10]. In recent years several studies have shown that high fat diets, particularly saturated fatty acids, added sugar and other energy-dense foods as well as diets low in wholegrain products are associated with the increasing prevalence of obesity and MetS [11-23].

Regarding to this underlying link between nutritional intake and metabolic outcome I examined the habitual nutritional intake and dietary quality in a cohort of employees of a German company via a food frequency questionnaire.

1.1. Metabolic Syndrome

1.1.1. History of the Metabolic Syndrome

Back to the 17th century, N. Tulp, G.B. Morgagni, G.Maranon and E. Kylin identified an association of several risk factors like obesity, atherosclerosis, diabetes and hyperuricaemia [24,25]. In 1956 J. Vague [26] and in the mid-seventeens' P. Avogaro (1965) and J.P. Camus (1966) [27,28] figured out that the abdominal fat has somehow an influence on the development of type 2 diabetes, atherosclerosis, gout and uric calculus disease. In Germany, the term metabolic syndrome has been firstly used in 1969 by K. Jahnke and 1977 by H. Haller [29,30]. The description of the MetS in 1981 by M. Hanefeld and W. Leonhardt [31] defined the syndrome as a cluster of obesity, hyper- and dyslipoproteinemia, maturity-onset-Diabetes (Type2), hypertension and gout with an increased incidence of atherosclerosis, vascular disease, fatty liver and cholelithiasis accompanied by the individual genetic disposition and environmental factors. In his legendary Banting Lecture in 1988 G. Reaven established the MetS as Syndrome X [32]. Insulin resistance with the concomitant occurrence

of hypertension, reduced high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol and hypertriglyceridemia characterized the Syndrome X. The impact of the visceral adipose tissue, producing pro-inflammatory cytokines, insulin resistance, genetic pathways and psychosocial variables including depression as well as lifestyle factors like physical inactivity and dietary habits is still a major field of on-going research to detect the underlying pathophysiology of the MetS [33-44].

1.1.2. Definition of the Metabolic Syndrome

The WHO definition of the MetS, published in 1999 is still worldwide recommended. A diagnosis of the syndrome by the WHO criteria could be made on the basis of several indicators of insulin resistance levels plus 2 additional risk factors including obesity or an increased waist-hip ratio, raised blood pressure, raised triglycerides, reduced high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol or microalbuminuria [3]. Quite recently insulin resistance and abdominal obesity are better understood as risk factors in the development of CVD and T2D. Therefore at least half a dozen definitions of the MetS circle around, based on the same risk factors but varying in cut offs. Definitions of the following groups the European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR) 1999 [4], the National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III (ATPIII) 2001 [5], the American Association of Clinical Endocrinology, the American College of Endocrinology (AACE, 2003) [6], an update of the National Cholesterol Education Program NCEP - ATP III (2004) [7] and in 2005 the definition of the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) [8] have been published. In 2009 the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention, the World Heart Federation, the International Atherosclerosis Society and the International Association for the Study of Obesity published a modified version of the NCEP – ATP III criteria including the presence of any 3 of the following 5 risk factors: 1. abdominal obesity (waist circumference: men \geq 102 cm, women \geq 88cm), 2. elevated triglycerides (TG) (≥ 150 mg/dl) or taking TG - lowering medication, 3. reduced high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (men < 40 mg/dl, women < 50 mg/dl) or taking HDL lowering medication, 4. elevated blood pressure ($\geq 130 / \geq 85$ mm Hg) or taking antihypertensive drugs and 5. increased fasting blood glucose (≥ 100 mg/dl) or already medicated T2D [9]. In Table 1 the different definitions with cut offs are shown in detail.

Risk factors	WHO 1999	EGIR 1999	NCEP-ATP III	AACE 2003	NCEP-ATP	IDF 2005	Joint
	[3]	[4]	2001 [5]	[6]	III 2004 [7]	[8]	Statement
							2009 [9]
	Fasting	Hyper-	3 of the	Fasting	3 of the	Abdominal	3 of the
	glucose plus	insulinemia	following 5	glucose plus	following 5	adiposity	following 5
	2 of the	plus 2 of the	features had	2 of the	features	plus 2 of the	features had to
	following	following	to be received	following	had to be	following	be received
	features had	features had		features	received	features had	
	to be	to be received		had to be		to be	
	received			received		received	

Table 1: Summary of the most widely used definitions of the Metabolic Syndrome

Fasting blood glucose	≥ 126 mg/dl or ≥ 110 - 126 mg/dl, Insulin resistance [#]	Only non- diabetic subjects, Hyper- insulinemia Fasting insulin > 75th percentile of the cohort	≥ 110 mg/dl or known diabetes	≥ 110 mg/dl < 126 mg/dl, not diabetes	≥ 100 mg/dl or diabetes	≥ 100 mg/dl or previously diagnosed diabetes type 2	≥ 100 mg/dl or diabetes or treatment with antidiabetic drugs
Abdominal obesity	BMI > 30 kg/m²	M ≥ 94 cm	M > 102 cm		M ≥ 102 cm	M ≥ 94 cm	M ≥ 102 cm
(BMI, waist, WHR)	and/ or WHR: M > 0.90 F > 0.85	F ≥ 80 cm	F > 88 cm		F ≥ 88 cm	F ≥ 80 cm or BMI ≥ 30 kg/m²	F ≥ 88 cm
Blood pressure	≥ 140/90 mm Hg		≥ 130/85 mm Hg	≥ 130/85 mm Hg	≥ 130/85 mm Hg	≥ 130/85 mm Hg or treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension	≥ 130/85 mm Hg or treatment with antihypertensive drugs
Triglycerides	≥ 150 mg/dl [§]	≥ 180 mg/dl or treatment for dyslipidemia	≥ 150 mg/dl	≥ 150 mg/dl	≥ 150 mg/dl	≥ 150 mg/dl or treatment for this lipid abnormality	≥ 150 mg/dl or treatment with TG lowering drugs
HDL cholesterol	M < 35 mg/dl	< 39 mg/dl	M < 40 mg/dl	M < 40 mg/dl	M < 40 mg/dl	M < 40mg/dl	M < 40 mg/dl
	F < 39 mg/dl		F < 50 mg/dl	F < 50 mg/dl	F < 50 mg/dl	F < 50 mg/dl or specific treatment for this lipid abnormality	F < 50 mg/dl or treatment for reduced HDL cholesterol
Others	Micro- albuminuria ^{\$}						

[#] Insulin resistance measured under hyperinsulinemic, euglycemic conditions, glucose uptake below lowest quartile for background population under investigation.

M = male, F = female

[§] and or reduced HDL-cholesterol

 $^{\circ}$ Urinary albumin excretion rate \geq 20 µg/min or albumin:creatinine ratio \geq 30 mg/g

1.1.3. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome

The prevalence of the MetS in the German population is depending on the underlying definition between 19.8% and 23.8% [45-48]. Compared to the female population, there is a slightly higher risk for the MetS in the male population (male 22% to 27%, female 18% to 21%) [45-48]. The prevalence of the MetS is rising due to age up to 70 - 75 years and is higher in men than in women up to an age of 65 - 69 years [47,48]. Studies estimating the prevalence of the MetS in cohorts of Korea, China, Italy and France reported a lower prevalence ranging between 6.8 and 16.2% [49-53]. In Ireland and Oman [54,55] the prevalence of the MetS was comparable (20.7% - 21.0%) to that in the German population, whereas the prevalence reported for Iran [56], Great Britain [57], Greece [58] and the US population [59-61] was much higher than in the German population (23.6% - 34.1%). Consequences of the MetS are an increased risk for developing diabetes type 2, cardiovascular disease as well as all-

cause mortality [1,2,9]. Ford and colleagues reported in a meta-analysis that the incidence of T2D in patients with a MetS, depending on the definition, is associated with a relative risk (RR) of 3.5 – 5.2 [1]. Diagnosing 3 or more abnormal components of the MetS raised the incidence of diabetes. Therefore, the comparison of patients with any component of the MetS to patients fulfilling four or more factors of the MetS estimated a RR for T2D between 10.9 and 24.4 [1]. Even if the association between the metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease is less compared to the association between T2D and MetS, Mottillo et al. have shown in a 2010 published meta-analysis an increased risk for CVD mortality of 75% (RR: 1.75; 95% CI: 1.19 to 2.58), for myocardial infarct of 62% (RR: 1.62; 95% CI: 1.31 to 2.01) and for stroke an increased risk of 86% (RR: 1.86; 95% CI: 1.10 to 3.17). According to the current state of research the effect of the MetS on all-cause mortality is not quite clear (RR: 1.32; 95% CI: 0.65 to 2.67) [2]. Patients already having T2D and MetS do have as expected an even higher risk for CVD (RR: 2.35; 95% CI: 2.20 to 2.73), CVD mortality (RR: 2.40; 95% CI: 1.87 to 3.08), myocardial infarct (RR: 1.99; 95% CI: 1.61 to 2.46), stroke (RR: 2.27; 95% CI: 1.80 to 2.85) and all-cause mortality (RR: 1.58; 95% CI: 1.39 to 1.78) [2].

1.2. Recommendations for the nutritional management of the metabolic syndrome

From a scientist point of view there is no doubt about the huge influence of both dietary habits and lifestyle changes especially high calorie input combined with insufficient physical activity leading to the worldwide growing epidemic occurrence of chronic diseases like obesity, T2D and CVD [11,12,62-64]. These changes are reflected in shifting dietary patterns, for example towards the consumption of energy-dense diets with high fat, particular saturated fat (SFA), high sucrose or free sugars and foods with a high glycaemic index and low in wholegrain cereals [12,14,65,66]. These patterns are associated with declined energy expenditure due to an increasing sedentary lifestyle. Due to the fact that nutrition is a major factor, which can be modified to influence health and the development of chronic diseases a wide range of nutritional recommendations have been published to prevent and treat such diseases. Some of them are mentioned below more detailed.

1.2.1 Recommendations for energy and nutrient intake

The recommended individual nutritional intake of the population published by the German Society of Nutrition (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung, DGE) [62] is quite good comparable to the recommendations for chronic disease by the WHO/ FAO [63] as well as to the recommendations for the prevention of diabetes or cardiovascular disease [11,64] and the recommendations for the US population [12].

The daily energy intake is depending on age, gender, body weight and the daily physical activity level (PAL) [62]. Based on a low physical activity level of 1.4 at an age of 25 to 65 years a daily energy intake between 9.300 kJ – 10.200 kJ for male and 7.400 kJ – 7.800 kJ for female individuals is recommended. Because of its adverse effects on triglycerides, LDL-cholesterol, insulin sensitivity, blood pressure, atherosclerosis, obesity, coronary disease and the metabolic syndrome, total fat intake should not exceed 30 - 35% of total daily energy [12,13,62-64,67]. The adverse effects of saturated fatty acids (SFA) on particular coronary heart disease (CHD) by raising LDL-cholesterol levels and impairing insulin sensitivity as well as its pro-coagulate effects result in the recommendation of less than 10% of total daily energy for SFA [12,13,62-64,67]. Regarding to individuals with an increased risk for CVD, some studies identified an extra beneficial effect by an intake of SFA reduced to < 7% [12,14,62-64]. For monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) naturally occurring in olive oil, rapeseed oil or nuts an intake above 10% is recommended. The total daily energy intake of MUFA, calculated by the difference of total fat minus SFA plus PUFA and trans FA should ideally account between 10 – 20% [62-64]. The recommended intake for MUFAs is due to an alteration in serum lipid levels, particular to lower total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol as well as an altered lipoprotein composition and increased insulin sensitivity [15,68]. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) do have a beneficial effect on the MetS, CVD and coronary disease by improving lipid and lipoprotein profile and systemic inflammation [69]. Based on this effect, a ratio of omega - 6 fatty acids (n-6 FA) to omega - 3 fatty acids (n-3 FA) of 5:1 and a daily intake of these fatty acids of 6 - 10%of total energy intake is recommended [62,63,69]. The restriction to a maximum of 10% is due to potential adverse effects of PUFAs on lipid peroxidation. Trans-unsaturated fatty acids (trans FA), partially hydrogenated fats, produced during processing confectionary and commercially fried foods (e.g. biscuits, cakes and chocolate) and naturally occurring in margarine should be reduced to less than 1% as of their adverse effects on lipoprotein profile (increase of LDL-cholesterol, Lp(a), decrease of HDL-cholesterol) and CVD [12,14,62-64]. Assuming dietary cholesterol increase the risk of CVD the recommended intake should not exceed 300 mg/day and should be reduced strictly if LDLcholesterol is above the upper limits [11,12,14,62-64].

The physiological demand of protein in healthy individuals is 0.8 g/kg BW and is equivalent to 9 to 11% of the daily energy intake [62]. The usual dietary protein intake evaluated in several studies ranged between 10 - 20% of daily energy intake. A widely used recommendation for dietary protein intake ranges between 10 - 20% of the daily energy intake [62-64], although recent guidelines from the US are recommending a protein intake up to 35% of the total daily energy intake [12]. These different recommendations are demonstrating a still on-going debate about the amount of protein in the diet. Some studies have shown a significant reduced risk for CHD, blood pressure and increased LDL-cholesterol for individuals with higher protein intake [70]. Additionally, high-protein diets have

shown to determine weight loss, improve glycaemia and triglyceride levels [71,72]. But the long-term effects on metabolic parameters are not quite well established nowadays. In contrast, major protein sources, for example, red meat and high-fat dairy products were significantly associated with an elevated risk of CHD and T2D [73,74].

The recommended carbohydrate intake is depending on the total fat and protein intake. For example, a recommendation of 30% total fat and 10 to 15% protein of daily energy intake, an intake of 55 to 60% carbohydrate is recommended [62]. The actual recommendations ranged from > 50% by the DGE [62], 45 – 60% for diabetic subjects [11,64], 45 – 65% by the USDA guidelines [13] and 55 – 75% by the WHO/FAO [63]. Analogous to the protein intake the carbohydrate intake is subject of a permanent debate. Some studies have shown an association of high carbohydrate intake and MetS (RR: 1.62 p < 0.05, OR: 2.7 p < 0.01) [75,76] reflected in increased triglyceride levels, reduced total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol levels and reduced weight gain [16]. Liu S. and colleagues reported no coherence between high carbohydrate intake and the risk of T2D and CHD [77]. In addition there are no data showing an association between low or very low carbohydrate diet and risk of developing T2D [12,14,16,62-64]. Regarding to the recommended carbohydrate intake both quantity and source of carbohydrates having an impact on metabolism [16,17,77]. In particular high fibre foods with a rather low glycaemic load are known as the most valuable carbohydrate source. The German Society of Nutrition [62] suggested a dietary fibre intake of \geq 30 g/day (women: 16 g/1000 kcal, men: 12.5 g/1000 kcal). The recommendation of the WHO/ FAO are down to > 25 g/day [50], the USDA guidelines propose 22 – 31 g/day [12] whereas patients already having T2D should ideally reach > 40 g/day of fibre according to the DNSG of the EASD nutritional guidelines [11,64]. Nutritional patterns containing high dietary fibre and wholegrain products are associated with a reduced risk of obesity, T2D, hypertension, colon cancer and CHD [17] as well as with a modest reduction in total and LDLcholesterol [12,15,16,62-64]. Dietary fibre from fruits and vegetables mostly accompanied by large amounts of secondary plant sterols, vitamins and minerals may reduce CHD and T2D risk [77]. Additionally, dietary fibres promote satiety by slowing gastric emptying and nutrient uptake as well as by releasing satiety hormones, all leading to a decreased calorie intake [78,79]. Total free sugar should not exceed 10% of total daily energy [12,14,62-64].

Depending on the amount, consumed alcohol may have beneficial or harmful effects. Moderate alcohol consumption is associated with a lower cardiovascular risk and all-cause mortality [15]. However, excessive drinking provides many calories and is associated with increased body weight as well as an increase of all-cause mortality [80,81]. The nutrition societies, in line, are recommending a limited intake of alcohol to 20 g/d for men and 10 g/d for women, in case there is no contraindication because of special diseases [12-14,62,63]. These amounts are corresponding to a single drink a day

for women and for men not more than two drinks per day are appropriate [12,62,63]. For instance a 0.5 L bottle of German beer (0.5 L, 5.0 vol.-%) bears already 20 g alcohol.

A correlation of habitual dietary salt intake and blood pressure, stroke and CVD has been shown in many studies [82-84]. Furthermore, negative effects on left ventricular mass, arterial stiffness and renal function are known [82]. The recommendation of the DGE, WHO and USDA varied at most between 5 to 6 g/d for healthy individuals whereas the USDA guidelines recommend less than 3.75 g/d for subjects having hypertension, diabetes or chronic kidney disease [12,62,63].

1.2.2. Guidelines for the intake of different food groups

Corresponding to the recommendations for nutrient intake there are some guidelines for the consumption of different food groups. Diet should be rich in vegetables and fruits to lower the overall intake of energy-dense food and to ensure the intake of micronutrients, macronutrients and fibre leading to a lower risk of MetS and CVD [12,14,62,63,77,85]. According to the recommendation of the DGE cereal products should be consumed 4 times per day [49] at least half of it via wholegrain products. Generally, refined grains should be replaced by wholegrain products [12,14,63]. The intake of PUFA, n - 3 FA eicosapentaenoic acid (C20:5 n-3, EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6 n-3, DHA), should be provided via an intake of preferable oily fish at least two times a week [12,14,62,63]. Fish consumption on a regular basis has been shown to be associated with a raised HDL-cholesterol, reduced TG levels and a reduced risk of coronary disease [15]. Furthermore, fish consumption can replace animal protein sources like red meat or whole-fat dairy products containing more saturated fatty acids [12,14,62,63,86]. Promoting healthy lipid profiles and insulin sensitivity the intake of 1 serving of nuts and seeds corresponding to 20 g per day is recommended [68]. To limit the intake of saturated fat, trans FA and cholesterol it is recommended to consume vegetable oil e.g. rapeseed or olive, lean meat like poultry or vegetable protein alternatives as well as skim or low - fat dairy products [12,14,62,63]. In general, dairy products are recommended to consume 3 times a day. Since the association of red meat and the development of MetS, T2D and coronary disease the German Society of Nutrition is recommending a limited intake of meat and meat products to 2 - 3 servings per week [13,18,73,74,85]. The intake of sweets, added sugar and sugar sweetened beverages (SSB) should be cut down to a minimum. Individuals consuming large amounts of SSB have an increased intake of calories with low effects on satiety. Thereby regularly drinking SSB increases the risk of weight gain and MetS [19,87,88]. Salt used for cooking or consumed via convenience food should also be minimized. Blood pressure may be lowered via reduced salt intake and accordingly the risk of cardiovascular disease, congestive heart failure and kidney disease [12,14,62,63,82-84].

Dietary patterns enable to analyse clusters of intake to estimate the diet-disease relation. Nutritional patterns including food like nuts, legumes, fish (oily fish), wholegrain cereals, oil, wine, fruits and

7

vegetables are inversely associated with hyperglycaemia, hypertension and prevalence of the MetS, T2D, CVD and CHD [13,15,18,20-23,87,89]. In contrast, dietary patterns mostly containing meat, processed meat, fried food, whole-fat dairy products, refined grains, sugar sweetened beverages and sweets are positively associated with the prevalence of the MetS, T2D, CVD and CHD [13,18,23-23,87,89]. The negative effect of the so-called "Western dietary patterns" may be due to a lower amount of beneficial food and nutrients as well as to a higher intake of SFA, trans FA, added sugars and refined grains [22].

2. Objectives

The aim of the *Lipid and glucose under prospective surveillance (LUPS)* study, a prospective examination of a cohort of 1.962 employees of a company in Hamburg, Germany, is to identify the impact of nutritional factors in the development of the MetS at an early stage. Nutritional intake and dietary quality were assessed via using a standardized food frequency questionnaire.

The present study is an analysis (a first step of a planned 3 – annually follow-up project) of reported energy, nutrient and food intake either sex, classified into different age groups of the total LUPS cohort. Furthermore, the habitual nutritional intake of the cohort was compared to actual evidence – based nutritional recommendations for the general population and for individuals at risk for the MetS. Identified unsound dietary patterns and their hazardous role in the development of the MetS were discussed. Therefore the baseline nutritional LUPS data were compared to the results of comparable German studies like the *Nationale Verzehrsstudie (NVS) 2006* and the *Bundesgesundheitssurvey (BGS) 1998* and projects published recently.

3. Methodology

Nutritional intake presented in this manuscript is part of the Lipid and Glucose under Prospective Surveillance (LUPS) project. LUPS is a joint research project between the university hospital Hamburg - Eppendorf and the Asklepios Kliniken Hamburg GmbH, initiated and headed during the first cross sectional observation of which data are used in this nutritional analysis by Prof. Dr. Ulrike Beisiegel (former Director of the Department of Molecular Cell Biology II, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf), Prof. Dr. Dirk Müller-Wieland (Director of the Department of General Internal Medicine, Asklepios Clinic St. Georg, Asklepios Campus Hamburg, Medical Faculty of Semmelweis University), Prof. Dr. Karl Wegscheider (Director of the Department of Medical Biometry and Epidemiology, University Hospital Hamburg-Eppendorf) and Prof. Dr. Bernd Löwe (Director of the Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf and Schön Klinik Hamburg-Eilbek) in collaboration with Dr. Monika Toeller (Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology and Rheumatology, University Hospital Düsseldorf, Heinrich-Heine-University). This prospective observational study carried out in Hamburg, Germany, is regarding to the development of the Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) and Type 2 Diabetes (T2D) in terms of risk factors like smoking, physical activity, psychosocial variables and nutrition with a particular emphasis on very early changes in the lipid and glucose metabolism.

3.1. Population and sampling

The prospective LUPS trial is planned to take at least ten years with a three year follow-up interval. Baseline examination took place from November 2008 to June 2010, at site of Lufthansa Technik GmbH in Hamburg, Germany. Overall, 1.962 individuals, aged 25 – 60 years, were recruited within the first examination. Individuals already diagnosed with diabetes or respectively have taken antidiabetic drugs or rather have had missing data were excluded from the analysis (n = 75). Baseline examination was based on a comprehensive study operational procedure established by the LUPS Steering committee. Anyone involved in the study examination was trained to follow the standardized procedures. In brief the following analyses were done, venous blood samples were taken for biochemical measurements, after an overnight fasting (10h). All routine laboratory analyses

were processed within 6 hours of blood collection by Medilys, Asklepios Hamburg GmbH, Institut für Labormedizin, Mikrobiologie und Krankenhaushygiene, certified and accredited by EFQM (European Foundation for Quality Management) and DACH (Deutsche Akkreditierungsstelle Chemie GmbH), Germany. Anthropometric measurements comprised height without shoes, weight with light clothing, waist circumference (midway between the lowest rib and the iliac crest), hip circumference (maximal circumference between the iliac crest and the thigh region) and blood pressure in the sitting position after 5 minutes rest. Within standardized interviews information about the medical conditions and medical history, including family history as well as hormonal status particular in women were assessed in the total cohort. A comprehensive health and lifestyle questionnaire was used to evaluate demographic data, psychosocial status, smoking habits, physical activity and diet. The study was acknowledged by the ethic committee of Hamburg and informed consent was obtained from all participants. The registration of the study is supplied in clinical trials register, NCT01313156.

3.2. Dietary intake assessment

Nutritional habits of the cohort have been assessed via, the dietary questionnaire NARI (**n**utritional int**a**ke in **ri**sk groups) [90]. NARI comprises a self-administered semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire with 85 food items (FFQ85) representing present national food intake. The 85 possible food items are presented in Table 8.

In addition 17 questions have been used to assess the intake of supplements, sweeteners, dietetic food and to obtain detailed information on food which may have a specific influence on the lipid and glucose metabolism. Moreover, individuals were asked, if they have taken any vitamin, mineral, poly-supplements, artificial sweeteners, sugar substitutes, dietetic food or low-caloric food. Those who reported to have taken supplements were asked to tell the label of the supplements for further details. In terms of duration and dosage of supplement intake no information was assessed. Regarding to food specifically influencing the lipid metabolism individuals were asked in detail for the use and type of consumed oils, nuts, fish and margarines.

In addition the FFQ85 allows participants to give up to 7 further food items they usually eat, but which are not described in the 85 items of the FFQ. As appropriate additional reported food items were matched to one of the 85 established food codes and the predefined portion sizes of the FFQ85 respectively they were newly coded at the time dietary intake data were calculated.

Either, the 85 food items as well as the added food items were allotted to predefined food groups, based on the similarity of nutrient profiles according to the food groups of the German National Nutrition Survey II (Nationale Verzehrsstudie, NVS II) [65] and modified to the goals of the target population of the study (Table 2).

11

Table 2: Classification of food items into food groups

Foods or food groups	Food items
Refined grains	Wheat bread, rolls, rye-wheat bread, white rice (basmati, parboiled), pasta,
	noodles (egg), muesli, cornflakes, other refined cereal products
Wholemeal products	Wholemeal bread or rolls, crisp bread, brown rice (whole grain, natural), pasta
	Pies cake (pound or yeast) croiscant papeakes cookies (butter) cookies with
Pastries	chocolate, puff pastries
Fact Food and convenience	Hamburger, hot dog, cheeseburger, pizza, fast food, toast hawaii, Croque, wraps,
Fast Food and convenience	falafel, frozen foods, convenience products
Vegetables	Raw and cooked vegetables, herbals, vegetable juice
Legumes	Green peas, green beans, lentils, soybeans
Processed plant products	Processed plant products, vegetable salad
Potatoes	Salted potatoes, jacket potatoes
	French fries, fried potatoes, dumplings, mashed potatoes, potato salad, potato
Potato products	fritters, croquettes
Fruits	Fresh fruits
Nuts and seeds	Nuts and seeds, walnuts, sunflower seeds, linseed
Butter	Butter, low-fat butter as spread and for food preparation
Margarine	Margarine, low-fat margarine as spread and for food preparation
Oil	Oils
Other fat	Solid vegetable fat, bacon, mayonnaise
	Skim or low-fat milk or voghurt or soured milk (< 1.5% fat), low-fat curd cheese.
Low-fat dairy products	buttermilk, whey beverage (fruits)
Low-fat cheese	Low-fat cheese
	Whole-fat milk or voghurt or soured milk (> 1.5% fat), high-fat curd cheese.
High-fat dairy products	creamer, condensed milk, sour crème, crème fraiche
High-fat cheese	Whole-fat cheese
Eggs	Boiled, fried and scrambled eggs, omelette
	Meat (liver, lamb, beef, pig, venison), high-fat processed sausage and sausage
Red and processed meat products	products, high-fat processed meat, innards
Low-fat meat products	Low-fat processed sausage and sausage products, low-fat processed meat
Fish	Fish, smoked fish
Fish products and seafood	Canned fish, seafood and crustaceans, fish salad
Course and stores	Vegetable or potato stew, vegetable soup, soup with meat or fish, broth or
Soups and stews	thickened
Souces and condiments	Brown and white sauce, ketchup, mustard, vinegar, Maggi, Worchester sauce,
Sauces and condiments	spices
Sweets	Chocolate and chocolate bars, ice cream, water-ice, jam, honey, fruit gum, candies,
Sweets	chocolate spread, canned fruits, dried fruits
Salty snacks	Potato chips, peanut puffs or other salty snacks, popcorn
Added sugar	Sugar
Sweeteners	Artificial sweeteners
Vegetarian products	Vegetarian products
Beer	Beer
Spirits	Spirits, Liqueur
Wine	Wine (red or white), champagne
Free-energy beverages	Tap water, mineral water, tea (black or green), tea (fruit or herbal)
Low-energy beverages	Fruit juice spritzer, light soft drinks
High-energy beverages	Soft drinks (e.g. cola, fanta or red bull), fruit nectar, beer (alcohol-free)
Fruit juice	Fruit juice (e.g. apple or orange)
Coffee	Coffee, Cafe Latte, espresso

For each of the semi-quantitative 85 food items the FFQ is providing a choice out of 3 portion sizes (small, medium or large), based on defined regional and target population specific empirical values. Moreover, individuals had to report their usual frequency of consumption of the foods over the past 4 weeks by marking one of six possible frequency categories ranging from "never or extremely rare" to "several times a day". A period of 4 weeks was chosen to report usual food intake by the FFQ, taking into account that longer periods would decrease the memory of the study participants and thereby reduce the precision to report what they consumed over the last range of time.

At LUPS baseline examination the NARI, included in the health and lifestyle questionnaire, was rechecked for completeness and plausibility.

3.2.1. Coding and calculation procedures

To calculate reported energy and nutrient intakes for each study participant, in the first instance reported portions of all foods were transferred to the gram amounts or millilitres using predefined lists of portion sizes prepared by skilled dieticians and nutritionists. Calculating the intakes per day the reported gram and millilitre amounts were multiplied with factors derived from the reported frequency of consumption (Table 3).

	Factors		x 0	x 0,07	x 0,21	x 0,64	x 1	x 2,5	
	Cor	nsumption f	requency	(1=never)	(2=1-3x/m)	(3=1-2x/w)	(4=3-6x/w)	(5=1x/d)	(6=several/d)
Item	Food	Portio	n size						
number	PRODI-Code	gram	size	0	0,07	0,21	0,64	1	2,5
2	Poultry	100	small	0	7	21	64	100	250
	Code: V 410 111	200	medium	0	14	42	128	200	500
		300	large	0	21	63	192	300	750
35	Oil	10	small	0	0.7	2.1	6.4	10	25
	Code: Q 100 000	20	medium	0	1.4	4.2	12.8	20	50
		30	large	0	2.1	6.3	19.2	30	75
41	Fresh fruits	100	small	0	7	21	64	100	250
	Code: F 000 111	150	medium	0	10.5	31.5	96	150	375
		200	large	0	14	42	128	200	500
70	Water	200	small	0	14	42	128	200	500
	Code: N 100 000	600	medium	0	42	126	384	600	1500
		1000	large	0	70	210	640	1000	2500

Table 3: Factors for the assessing of the amounts of the daily intake

M = month, w = week, d = day

The semi-quantitative calculation of daily energy and nutrient intake is based on food amounts reported in the FFQ85 using a list of prepared Code – Numbers (Code) matching best with the food ingredients from the German Food Analysis System (Bundeslebensmittelschlüssel, BLS) [91] comprising data of nearly 15.000 food items. We used the computer software program PRODI®expert [92] to calculate the nutrient contents of the food items. Total energy intake was calculated using the physiological caloric value of the foods considering the Atwater factors 37 kJ per 1g fat, 17 kJ per 1g protein, 17 kJ per 1g carbohydrate and 29 kJ per 1g alcohol [93].

The FFQ85 was validated in a randomly selected subgroup, 115 male versus 117 female study participants, aged 25 to 60 years, 1 year after baseline examination. Pearson correlation coefficients

(r) for nutrient intake compared baseline to subgroup assessment of the FFQ ranged from 0.39 for polyunsaturated fat (E%) to 0.71 for alcohol (g/d) in men and from 0.44 for monounsaturated fat (E%) to 0.73 for polyunsaturated fat (g/d) in women. It was shown that the FFQ85 is an instrument with a high degree of reproducibility. This fact was previously reported in subjects with diabetes and in non-diabetic controls using a slightly shorter version of the food frequency questionnaire 85 [94-96].

3.3. Statistical analysis

The characteristic of the study population is described using means \pm standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables and frequencies for categorical variables (Table 4).

Due to gender specific differences in dietary intake patterns, all analyses (Tables 7-13 and Figures 1-12) are presented separately for male and female study participants.

Since dietary habits change due to age or vary between age groups, nutritional data were subdivided into different age groups or were age-adjusted (Tables 7-9, 11 and Figures 2-5).

Average daily energy and nutrient intake are shown as the arithmetic mean in grams per day respectively as % of total energy intake. Age-adjusted values for daily mean intake of energy and nutrients as well as for single food items and food groups are presented as means with 95% confidence interval (CI). Age-adjustment was performed for the median age of male and female individuals. A two-sided students't-test was conducted in order to compare mean daily intake of male and female study participants. Statistical significance was assumed at P < 0.05 (Table 7-9). The percentage intake of total energy intake for protein, carbohydrates, total fat, SFA, MUFA and PUFA as well as the intake of dietary fibre and cholesterol were compared to nutritional recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition [62] (Figure 1).

Plots, shown in figure 2 and 5 were calculated to demonstrate gender specific variations of energy, macronutrient and food intake in 3 different age groups. Accordingly, mean dietary intake of the age groups was adjusted for 28 years corresponding to 5th percentile of age (male n=70, female n=62), 43 years corresponding to median age (male n=1142, female n=529) and 56 years corresponding to the 95th percentile of age (male n=62, female n=22) of the study participants. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with Bonferroni correction was used to examine the effects of age and gender on the reported mean daily energy and nutrient intake.

The mean daily intake of food groups (g/d) and beverages (ml/d) for male and female study participants are described via vertical bar graphs. Bars are sorted in an ascending order (Figure 3 and

4).

Estimating the frequency of intake for the different food items the six categories of frequency used in the FFQ85 were summarized to 3 categories of consumption frequency. The frequencies "never or extremely rare" and "1-3 times a month" are summarized to the group "never to 3 times a month". The category "1-2 times per week" is sustained whereas the categories "3-6 times a week", "once a day" and "several times a day" were combined to the group "3 times a week to several times a day". A logistic regression model was used to describe possible significant (p < 0.05) differences of the frequency of gender related intakes (Table 10).

The percentages of reported use of supplements, artificial sweetener, sugar substitute, dietetic food and specific food known to have an impact on lipid metabolism were calculated, separately for male and female study participants. A logistic regression model was applied to examine the association between both sexes, non-users provided as reference category. Odd ratios determine probabilities of use of supplements in male versus female study participants (Table 12,13). Assuming the use of supplement vary in different age groups, mean percentage of the use of these supplements as well as of foods influencing the lipid metabolism a calculation of four age groups (< 30 years, 31 - 40 years, 41 - 50 years, 51 - 60 years; Figures 6-12) was done.

4. Results

4.1. Characteristics of the study population

A total of 1.962 individuals were recruited in the LUPS project to study the development of the MetS. 75 individuals did not fulfil the inclusion criteria either of already had diabetes or have taken antidiabetic drugs (n = 22) or any missing data like missing blood pressure values (n= 15), missing blood sampling (n = 3), age outside inclusion range (n = 28) or missing nutritional data (n=7). Overall, the present cohort comprised 1274 male and 613 female study participants. The mean age at study entry was 42.4 ± 8.8 years in male and 41.9 ± 8.9 years in female participants. Mean and percentage values for anthropometric parameters, blood sampling, smoking status, education level and MetS risk factors are presented in Table 4. Average BMI and waist circumference were $26.3 \pm 3.6 \text{ kg/m}^2$ and $92.0 \pm 12.1 \text{ cm} (26.6 \pm 3.5 \text{ kg/m}^2 \text{ and } 95.4 \pm 10.1 \text{ cm} \text{ in men}; 25.0 \pm 4.2 \text{ kg/m}^2 \text{ and } 85.0 \pm 11.4 \text{ cm}$ in women). Mean diastolic blood pressure was $83.1 \pm 9.6 \text{ mmHg}$ and systolic blood pressure $126.9 \pm 16.9 \text{ mmHg}$.

The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome was 20.4% in men and 11.8% in women. Blood pressure (BP) was the most prevalent MetS risk factor in men (66.7%) and in women (43%), followed by triglycerides (TG) (26.4%) and waist circumference (25%) in men and waist circumference (36.6%) and HDL-cholesterol (15.5%) in women. Elevated blood glucose levels were shown by 11.9% male and 6.2% female study participants.

Characteristics	Men (n=1274) Women (n=61			(n=613)
	Mean ± SD			
Age (years)	42.4	± 8.8	41.9	± 8.9
Height (cm)	181.3	± 6.9	168.2	± 6.5
Weight (kg)	88.8	± 12.8	70.8	± 12.9
Waist circumference (cm)	95.4	± 10.1	85.0	±11.4
Systolic BP (mm Hg)	129.3	± 16.1	121.7	± 17.6
Diastolic BP (mm Hg)	84.8	± 9.0	79.5	± 10.0
BMI (kg/m²)	26.6	± 3.5	25.0	± 4.2
Blood samples				
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	90.4	± 12.4	87.3	± 8.7
HbA1c (%)	5.5	± 0.4	5.5	± 0.3
Triglyceride (mg/dl)	128.4	± 97.5	95.0	± 102.8
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	206.0	± 39.6	201.4	± 36.0
HDL - cholesterol (mg/dl)	49.5	± 12.1	65.1	± 16.3
Non - HDL (mg/dl)	156.5	± 40.9	136.3	± 36.6
LDL - cholesterol (mg/dl)	135.5	± 35.2	122.5	± 34.3
Smoking status		%	5 (n)	
Never	43.3	(559)	44.1	(273)
Former	34.1	(441)	31.1	(193)
Current	21.7	(281)	23.7	(147)

School years	9	% (n)
< 10 years	16.4 (212)	8.5 (53)
10 years	30.5 (395)	33.2 (206)
> 10 years	49.7 (642)	54.2 (336)
Prevalence of MetS and its		
components [§]		%
Metabolic syndrome	20.4	11.8
Waist risk	25.0	36.6
TG risk	26.4	9.6
HDL risk	21.0	15.5
BP risk	66.7	43.0
Glucose risk	11.9	6.2

[§] Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its components are calculated by the Joint Statement criteria 2009
[31] (Risk: values outside the recommended levels)

4.2. Extra-Coding of the individualized FFQ items

As far as possible additional food items were allotted to one of the previously defined 85 codes and portion sizes prepared for the FFQ85 or even got an own code. In total, 134 additional food items not already listed in the FFQ85 were reported by the study participants. Out of these, 40 food items were assigned to already defined food codes and their portion sizes (Table 5). Further, 94 food items had to be newly coded using data from the BLS and were assigned to common portion sizes (Table 6). The 5 most frequently reported additional food items were Liquorice (n=31), Nutella (n=23), Tofu (n=18), chocolate (n=12) and protein shake (n=12). Energy and nutrient contents of these food items were also calculated using their physiological caloric value with the considering Atwater factors and the computer software program PRODI®expert [92]. The surplus energy content from these foods was 68.7 kJ/d in male and 103.4 kJ/d in female participants. This energy and calculated nutrient intakes were added to the sum obtained from the 85 FFQ items. To guarantee the correct assignment of all reported foods and to achieve high quality standards for the nutrition assessment, all foods were coded individually by trained nutritionists using standardized procedures, which were regularly checked by nutrition experts.

E – Nb. of NARI	Foods	BLS-Code	Portion size (g) small/ medium/ large
67	Wholemeal bread, spelt bread	B 191000	30/60/90
66	Leavened bread	B 271000	30/60/90
65	White bread, rolls, pretzel roll	B 304000	25/50/75
69	Muesli, Cornflakes	C 512011	20/40/80
23	Cinnamon roll	D 450000	30/60/90
63	Pasta (spelt)	E 604022	80/160/240
41	Fruits (e.g. Banana, apple)	F 000111	100/150/200
49	Cooked vegetables (e.g. Cauliflower, Spinach)	G 000111	100/200/300

Table 5: Added foods (free-write in items) assigned to already defined food or food group codes

78	Carrot juice	G 090600	100/200/300
50	Raw vegetables (e.g. Tomato, sweet pepper)	G 100111	100/200/300
29	Walnuts, sunflower seeds, linseed	H 100000	25/50/100
52	Soybeans, beans, peas	H 700011	60/120/180
54	Potatoes	K 110021	80/160/240
30	Chips, salty snacks	K 280111	15/30/45
30	Popcorn	K 280111	20/30/50
14	Lactose-free yogurt, milk, sheep and goat milk or yogurt	M 110300	100/150/250
18	Condensed milk	M 174711	20/50/100
11	Low-fat cheese	M 402400	20/30/40
12	High-fat cheese, sheep or goat cheese, Camembert	M 402700	20/30/40
15	Cottage cheese	M 713100	50/100/200
75	Apple juice and other NFC juices (not from concentrate)	N 200000	100/200/300
79	Red Bull, Eistee, Iso-Star	N 310000	200/400/600
76	Bionade, Wellness-beverages, Apple spritzer	N 310300	200/400/600
71	Espresso	N 410100	50/100/150
72	Rooibos Tea	N 600100	125/250/500
35	Olive oil	Q 100000	10/20/30
33	Margarine with Olive oil	Q 420000	5/10/20
34	Low-fat margarine with plant sterols	Q 450000	5/10/20
44	Jam, honey, sugar-beet molasses	S 131000	10/25/40
46	Water-ice	S 220000	50/100/200
3	Fresh fish (e.g. Salmon, mackerel), smoked fish	T 000111	80/150/250
4	Canned fish	T 102902	50/100/150
5	Crabs	T 750011	80/150/250
1	Red unprocessed meat	U 000111	80/150/250
2	Poultry	V 410111	100/200/300
8	High-fat sausage products	W 232000	20/30/40
38	Soups	X 425003	200/300/400
42	Red berry compote, canned fruits	Y 855051	100/200/300
37	Fast food	Y 911061	200/350/600

Table 6: Added foods (free-write in items), newly coded

Nb.	Food	BLS-Code	Portion size (g) small/ medium/ large
1	Cereal products (e.g. bulgur, millet)	C 393011	50/100/150
2	Other cooked breakfast cereals	C 492011	50/100/150
3	Waffles (egg)	D 621000	100/200/250
4	Zwieback	D 630411	15/50/100
5	Spaetzle	E 430022	200/380/500
6	Wraps/ Falafel, tortillas	E 621211	150/200/250
7	Smoothie	F 000311	100/200/300
8	Sweet soups	X 491341	200/300/400
9	Avocado	F 502000	120/200/250
10	Pepperoni	G 554111	10/15/20
11	Mixed pickles	G 880611	50/80/120
12	Coconut milk	H 151011	100/150/250
13	Canned olive	H 510000	15/30/60
14	Sprouts and germs	H 620021	100/200/300
15	Soy products	J 200000	100/150/200

16	Soy cream	J 300011	20/50/100
17	Soy milk, Soy yogurt	J 370011	100/150/250
18	Tofu, Seitan	J 381011	50/100/150
19	Soy roast	J 451000	100/200/400
20	Vegetarian spreads	J 500000	20/30/40
21	Vegetarian pasties	J 510000	20/30/40
22	Peanut squish or other nut squish	J 587000	10/25/40
23	Fruit bar	J 620000	15/25/40
24	Soy sauce	J 721000	15/30/45
25	Yeast	J 737711	15/30/45
26	Vegetarian spreads based on yeast	J 740000	20/30/40
27	Vegetarian convenience food	J 900000	200/300/400
28	Soy sausage	J 945000	20/30/40
29	Mushrooms	K 700021	100/200/300
30	Gluten free flour	L 131111	30/60/90
31	Inulin	L 310011	5/10/15
32	Chewing gum (sugar free)	L 380011	2/3/5
33	Artificial sweeteners	L 410011	1/2/4
34	Cellagon Aurum	L 571211	20/30/50
35	Juice, whey beverage	M 160000	125/250/400
36	Carbohydrate shake	M 200200	100/150/200
37	Actimel	M 240000	50/100/200
38	Whey beverage (fruits)	M 262011	125/250/400
39	Protein shake	M 890011	100/150/200
40	Cappuccino, Latte Macchiato	N 410200	125/250/500
41	Malt beer	P 121000	200/300/500
42	Mayonnaise	Q 993011	15/30/50
43	Salt	R 114000	1/2/3
44	Mustard	R 130000	5/10/20
45	Ketchup	R 141100	20/30/50
46	Maggi	R 149111	2/4/6
47	Worchester sauce	R 149211	2/4/6
48	Tomato paste	R 160000	5/10/20
49	Spices	R 280011	2/4/6
50	Broth	R 810000	5/10/15
51	Mixed spices	R 910000	30/45/60
52	Vinegar	R120000	2/4/6
53	Sweets	S 000000	30/80/150
54	Dextrose	S 115111	5/10/15
55	Sugar substitutes	S 118000	5/10/15
56	Crystallized fruits	S 310000	30/50/100
57	Chewing gum	S 390000	2/3/5
58	Liquorice	S 410000	20/50/80
59	Marzipan	S 420000	20/50/100
60	Chocolate spread, Peanut-butter	S 500000	10/25/40
61	Nuts (coated with chocolate)	S 500000	30/50/100
62	Chocolate sprinkles	S 590000	10/20/30
63	Protein bar	\$ 830011	15/25/40
64	Carbohydrate bar	S 830011	15/25/40
65	Fish paste	T 800021	20/30/40
66	Veal sausage (Bavarian)	W 232000	100/200/350
67	Croque	X 060060 (6)	250/300/500
68	Hawaii Toast	X 081742	150/300/450

69	Salads prepared with mayonnaise	X 191302	60/125/200
70	Farmer-salad	X 203142	60/125/200
71	Anti Pasta	X 254261	50/80/120
72	Potato-salad	X 280000	150/200/300
73	Sushi	X 286052	200/300/400
74	Sausage-salad	X 290762	60/125/200
75	Poultry-salad	X 293142	60/125/200
76	Trout-salad	X 294751	60/125/200
77	Crab-salad	X 297161	50/100/150
78	Canteen food	X 554331	200/300/400
79	Labskaus	X 693412	250/380/500
80	Noodles (Chinese, roasted)	X 700002	100/200/300
81	Lasagne	X 730033	200/400/600
82	Soufflés	X 730033	200/400/600
83	Rice pudding	X 810111	125/250/500
84	Frozen foods, convenience products	X 891131	250/380/500
85	Oatmeal	X 900002	50/100/150
86	Oat milk	X 900002	100/150/250
87	Polenta	X 986161	125/250/375
88	Couscous	X 992161	90/180/270
89	Chicken fricassee	Y 564112 (1)	200/300/400
90	Fish sticks	Y 695112	90/150/210
91	Potatoes with mustard sauce	Y 740451	150/200/300
92	Pudding	Y 870252	100/150/250
93	Rice crackers	C 532011	20/30/50
94	Puffed rice (sweetened)	C 532611	20/30/50

4.3. Nutrient and energy intake of the study population

Both, crude and age-adjusted daily mean intakes and 95% confidence intervals of the reported energy and nutrients for male and female study participants are presented in Table 7. Differences in energy and nutrient intake between men and women were tested and p-values are showing significance levels.

Reported daily mean energy intake in males was significantly higher than in female participants (7191.4 kJ vs. 5976.8 kJ). Men have reported significantly higher nutrient intakes compared to women for protein, total fat, SFA, dietary cholesterol, alcohol and NaCl (18.2 E% vs. 17.4 E% for protein; 35.3 E% vs. 34.5 E% for total fat; 14.9 E% vs. 14.4 E% for SFA; 167.5 mg/1000kcal vs. 151.5 mg/1000kcal and 278.1mg/d vs. 209.6 mg/d for dietary cholesterol; 6.9 g/d vs. 3.5 g/d for alcohol and 3.3 g/d vs. 2.6 g/d for NaCl). The intake of monounsaturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids and dietary fibre (g/d) were not statistically different between male and female study participants (13.5 E% vs. 13.3 E%; 4.5 E% vs. 4.4 E%; 16.5 g/d vs. 16.4 g/d). However, reported intake of carbohydrate and dietary fibre (g/1000kcal) were significantly higher in women than in men (43.5 E% vs. 46.2 E% for carbohydrate; 9.9 g/1000kcal vs. 11.9 g/1000kcal for dietary fibre). Although, male

individuals have reported a predominantly higher daily intake than females; often larger confidence intervals were shown in women. This effect was seen as well by the standard errors of the ageadjusted mean daily intakes (data not shown) representing larger interindividual variations of the reported intake in females.

		Male (n=1	.274)			Female (n=	=613)		
		Age-				Age-			P–Value [§]
	Crude	adjusted			Crude	adjusted			
	means	means	(95%	% CI)	means	means	(95%	% CI)	
Energy (kJ/d)	7224.9	7191.4	(7033.1	7349.7)	6020.3	5976.8	(5747.3	6206.3)	< 0.001
Protein (E%)	18.3	18.2	(18.0	18.5)	17.4	17.4	(17.1	17.8)	< 0.001
Carbohydrate (E%)	43.4	43.5	(43.0	43.9)	46.3	46.2	(45.5	46.9)	< 0.001
Dietary fibre									
(g/1000kcal)	9.9	9.9	(9.7	10.1)	11.9	11.9	(11.6	12.3)	< 0.001
Dietary fibre (g/d)	16.5	16.5	(16.1	17.0)	16.4	16.4	(15.7	17.1)	n.s.
Fat (E%)	35.4	35.3	(35.0	35.7)	34.5	34.5	(34.0	35.0)	< 0.05
Saturated FA (E%)	15.0	14.9	(14.7	15.1)	14.4	14.4	(14.1	14.6)	< 0.05
Monounsaturated									
FA (E%)	13.6	13.5	(13.4	13.7)	13.3	13.3	(13.0	13.5)	n.s.
Polyunsaturated									
FA (E%)	4.5	4.5	(4.4	4.5)	4.4	4.4	(4.3	4.5)	n.s.
Dietary cholesterol									
(mg/1000kcal)	167.9	167.5	(164.3	170.7)	151.3	151.5	(146.9	156.2)	< 0.001
Dietary cholesterol									
(mg/d)	280.2	278.1	(270.9	285.3)	210.7	209.6	(199.1	220.0)	< 0.001
Alcohol (g/d)	6.8	6.9	(6.5	7.3)	3.5	3.5	(3.0	4.1)	< 0.001
NaCl (g/d)	3.3	3.3	(3.2	3.4)	2.7	2.6	(2.5	2.8)	< 0.001

Table 7: Reported energy and nutrient intakes per day of male and female study participants

[§] P-values comparing differences between age-adjusted mean daily intakes of male and female study participants using a two-sided t-test (P<0.05).

FA fatty acids; n.s. not significant

Compared to the recommended energy intake of 9.300 kJ/d to 10.200 kJ/d for male and 7.400 kJ/d to 7.800 kJ/d for female individuals at the age of 25 to 65 years with a low activity level (physical activity level, PAL) of 1.4, male and female study participants reported energy intakes below these levels (Table 7). The mean daily reported intake of protein in both sexes was lying above the recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition. The upper limit of 30% for total fat of the daily energy intake is not adhered by men and women. Recommendations for saturated fatty acids (\leq 10% of daily energy intake) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (7 – 10% of daily energy intake) were not reached in both genders (Figure 1). Reported dietary cholesterol intake in men (278.1 mg/d) and women (209.6 mg/d) was within the recommendations up to a maximum of 300 mg/d (Table 7). The recommended mean daily intake of carbohydrates of 50% at minimum of the daily energy was not reached (Figure 1). In addition the daily intake of dietary fibre, in both genders was about half of the recommended 30 g/d. The recommended limits for daily intakes of alcohol (10 g/d for females and 20 g/d for males) and salt intake (6g/d) were not exceeded by men and women [62].



Figure 1: Reported age-adjusted mean daily nutrient intakes of male and female study participants.

4.3.1. Nutrient and energy intake in different age groups

To describe energy and nutrient intake in different age groups, reported mean daily intakes were plotted against age, within 3 age groups. The differences for male and female study participants are shown in Figure 2 (a-j).

In male and female study participants daily energy intake (Figure 2a) decreased significantly (p < 10.001) in the older age groups (-1.289 kJ/d for men; -1.024 kJ/d for women). In all age related groups, a gender specific difference in the daily protein intake was shown. In women the daily intake was slightly higher (+ 0.4 E%) and in men the daily intake of protein was lower (-1.6 E%) in the older age groups. The differences of daily carbohydrate intake within the 3 age groups were significantly different (p < 0.05) between men and women. Reported daily carbohydrate intake increased in men (+ 1.2 E%) and decreased in women (-2.1 E%) in the older age groups. Regarding daily dietary fibre intake (Figure 2d), the intake within the 3 age groups was significantly (p < 0.001) different between male (+ 2.7 g/1000kcal) and female (+ 1.8 g/1000kcal) study participants. For the intake of total fat (2e), saturated fatty acids (2f) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (2h) no significant differences between the age groups were seen, in both genders. Figure 2g shows a significant different intake of MUFAs in the 3 age groups between men and women (p < 0.05). In the older age group mean daily intake of MUFA was higher (+ 0.5 E%) in women and lower (-0.7 E%) in men compared to men and women in the age group of the 5th percentile. The reported intake of dietary cholesterol did not differ significantly in the 3 age groups. However, the daily cholesterol intake differs significantly (p < 0.01) between genders. In men, intake of dietary cholesterol was lower (-17.2 g/1000kcal) and in women the intake was higher (+4.5 g/1000kcal) in the older age groups. The intake of alcohol was



significantly higher in the age group of the 95th percentile, however not significantly different between men and women.

23



Figure 2: Differences of reported energy and nutrient intakes (a-j) in 3 age groups, stratified by gender (F = female, M= male).

Values are means and 95% CI. The 3 age groups are describing the mean intakes adjusted for 28 years corresponding to 5th percentile of age (male n=70, female n=62), 43 years corresponding to median age (male n=1142, female n=529) and 56 years corresponding to the 95th percentile of age (male n=62, female n=22) of the study subjects. Test of effects (p-values) resulting from ANCOVA, using Bonferroni's correction for each variable p <0.05.

n.s. not significant

4.4. Food choices and amounts of intakes

Reported mean daily food intakes regarding the 85 food items assessed with the FFQ are shown in Table 8. Because of expected differences between men and women, age-adjusted means and 95% confidence intervals are separately presented for male and female study participants. Differences between both were tested by a two-sided t-test.

The reported daily intakes in male subjects were mostly higher compared to those of females. In men, the reported food intake of unprocessed meat, poultry, unprocessed fish, canned fish, eggs, low-fat processed sausage products, high-fat processed sausage products, low-fat processed meat, high-fat processed meat, whole-fat milk, yoghurt, soured milk; cream, condensed milk, sour cream, crème fraiche; ice-cream; pies; cake (yeast); croissant; puff pastries; butter; margarine; solid vegetable fat, bacon; fast food; stew; sauce; jam and honey; sugar; legumes; salted potatoes; dumplings; croquettes; fried potatoes; French fries; white rice (basmati, parboiled); brown rice (natural, whole-grain); noodles (egg); wheat bread, rolls; rye-wheat bread; coffee; fruit juice; fruit nectar; soft drinks; beer; beer alcohol-free and spirits were significantly higher than in women. For the remaining food items we observed lower or equal intakes in men compared to women. Thereby, the intakes of skim or low-fat milk, yogurt, soured milk; chocolate, chocolate bars; oil; fresh fruits; cooked vegetables; raw vegetables; herbals; jacket potatoes; crisp bread; water (tap and mineral); and fruit or herbal tea were significantly lower in men than in women.

Items	Food choices g/d or ml/d	M	ale (n = 1274)		Fe	P-value [§]		
in FFQ85		Mean ^{\$}	(95% CI)		Mean ^{\$}	(95%	6 CI)	
1	Meat, unprocessed	85.1	(81.36; 88.91)	45.8	(40.37;	51.32)	< 0.001
2	Poultry	54.7	(52.10; 57.29)	42.9	(39.13;	46.66)	< 0.001
3	Fish, unprocessed	20.0	(18.91; 21.12)	17.7	(16.12;	19.33)	< 0.05
4	Canned fish	2.1	(1.87; 2.40)		1.1	(0.75;	1.53)	< 0.001
5	Seafood and crustaceans	4.9	(4.44; 5.36)		5.7	(5.00;	6.33)	n.s.
6	Eggs	16.3	(15.45; 17.20)	13.6	(12.37;	14.91)	< 0.01
7	Low-fat processed sausage products	11.4	(10.82; 12.06)	8.0	(7.14;	8.94)	< 0.001
8	High-fat processed sausage products	7.2	(6.69; 7.68)		3.2	(2.48;	3.93)	< 0.001
9	Low-fat processed meat	5.8	(5.42; 6.22)		3.8	(3.20;	4.35)	< 0.001
10	High-fat processed meat	3.5	(3.20; 3.85)		1.5	(0.99;	1.93)	< 0.001
11	Low-fat cheese	6.2	(5.65; 6.69)		6.9	(6.11;	7.63)	n.s.
12	Whole-fat cheese	8.2	(7.59; 8.76)		8.7	(7.82;	9.52)	n.s.
13	Skim or low-fat milk, yogurt, soured milk	52.1	(47.04; 57.09)	74.8	(67.50;	82.08)	< 0.001
14	Whole-fat milk, yogurt, soured milk	53.9	(49.68; 58.06)	44.1	(38.00;	50.16)	< 0.01
15	Low-fat quark	4.8	(3.94; 5.76)		6.3	(5.01;	7.65)	n.s.
16	Cream quark	4.0	(3.08; 4.85)		4.3	(3.04;	5.62)	n.s.
17	Buttermilk	8.7	(6.87; 10.50)	7.9	(5.23;	10.50)	n.s.
18	Cream, condensed milk, sour cream, crème fraiche	11.1	(9.91; 12.23)	5.8	(4.09;	7.45)	< 0.001
19	Ice-cream	6.5	(5.91; 7.08)		4.7	(3.88;	5.58)	< 0.01
20	Chocolate, chocolate bars	16.6	(15.02; 18.09)	19.6	(17.35;	21.81)	< 0.05
21	Pies	3.8	(3.36; 4.22)		2.3	(1.70;	2.94)	< 0.001
22	Cake, pound	3.8	(3.29; 4.23)		3.3	(2.65;	4.00)	n.s.

Table 8: Reported mean daily food choices (g/d or ml/d) for male and female study participants by the 85 items of the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ85).

23	Cake, yeast	1.9	(1.72;	2.16)	1.2	(0.88;	1.52)	< 0.001
24	Croissant	1.3	(1.13;	1.46)	0.8	(0.54;	1.03)	< 0.01
25	Puff pastries	1.1	(0.93;	1.33)	0.6	(0.30;	0.89)	< 0.01
26	Pancakes	4.7	(4.26;	5.15)	4.3	(3.62;	4.91)	n.s.
27	Cookies, butter	5.3	(4.69;	5.96)	5.3	(4.42;	6.25)	n.s.
28	Cookies with chocolate	2.9	(2.47;	3.40)	2.4	(1.71;	3.06)	n.s.
29	Nuts and seeds	4.7	(4.16;	5.24)	5.5	(4.73;	6.30)	n.s.
	Potato chips, peanut puffs							
30	or other salty snacks	2.4	(2.15;	2.62)	2.1	(1.82;	2.48)	n.s.
31	Butter	3.0	(2.76;	3.31)	2.2	(1.83;	2.63)	< 0.01
32	Low-fat butter	0.4	(0.31;	0.52)	0.5	(0.35;	0.64)	n.s.
33	Margarine	2.1	(1.84;	2.29)	1.2	(0.90;	1.56)	< 0.001
34	Low-fat margarine	2.1	(1.88;	2.34)	1.8	(1.45;	2.12)	n.s.
35	Oil	4.3	(4.04;	4.61)	5.5	(5.06;	5.88)	< 0.001
36	Solid vegetable fat, Bacon	0.5	(0.39;	0.52)	0.2	(0.10;	0.29)	< 0.001
37	Fast Food	23.8	(21.78;	25.76)	13.9	(11.00;	16.78)	< 0.001
38	Soup, broth or thickened	23.0	(21.03;	24.97)	25.7	(22.83;	28.55)	n.s.
39	Stew	27.2	(25.48;	28.83)	21.1	(18.64;	23.51)	< 0.001
40	Sauce	10.7	(10.10;	11.33)	7.5	(6.57;	8.35)	< 0.001
41	Fresh fruits	108.5	(101.81;	115.10)	150.4	(140.78;	160.05)	< 0.001
42	Canned fruits	5.9	(5.06;	6.69)	5.0	(3.80;	6.16)	n.s.
43	Dried fruits	1.5	(1.20;	1.71)	1.4	(1.08;	1.81)	n.s.
44	Jam, honey	6.3	(5.82;	6.76)	5.0	(4.37;	5.72)	< 0.01
45	Sugar	3.7	(3.33;	3.98)	2.9	(2.40;	3.34)	< 0.01
46	Water-ice	2.7	(2.37;	3.04)	2.1	(1.63;	2.60)	n.s.
47	Fruit gum	4.4	(3.59;	5.19)	5.2	(4.08;	6.40)	n.s.
48	Candies	1.0	(0.83;	1.19)	1.2	(0.89;	1.41)	n.s.
49	Vegetables, cooked	80.8	(76.94;		94.5	(88.87;	100.21)	< 0.001
50	Vegetables, raw	68.7	(64.31;	73.17)	97.5	(91.10;	103.95)	< 0.001
51	Herbals	1.6	(1.45;	1.72)	2.0	(1.84;	2.23)	< 0.001
52	Legumes	9.8	(9.03;	, 10.59)	7.8	(6.67;	8.94)	< 0.01
53	Jacket potatoes	12.1	(11.03:	13.18)	16.3	(14.76:	17.87)	< 0.001
54	Salted potatoes	33.1	(31.23:	35.06)	25.6	(22.82:	28.38)	< 0.001
55	Mashed potatoes	11.0	(9.96:	12.04)	10.1	(8.58:	11.59)	n.s.
56	Dumplings (potatoes)	2.3	(2.00:	2.50)	1.3	(0.98:	1.71)	< 0.001
57	Croquettes (potato)	3.2	(2.89:	3.53)	1.4	(0.90:	1.83)	< 0.001
58	Fried potatoes	11.4	(10.74:	12.01)	6.3	(5.34:	7.17)	< 0.001
59	French fries	12.3	(11 56)	13 08)	5.9	(4.82)	7 03)	< 0.001
60	Potato fritters	11	(0.95)	1 28)	0.8	(0.61)	1 ()8)	ns
	White rice (Basmati		(0.55)	1.20)	0.0	(0.01)	1.00)	
61	parboiled)	34.3	(32.32;	36.21)	26.9	(24.04;	29.68)	< 0.001
	Brown rice (whole-grain,							
62	natural)	13.1	(11.74;	14.44)	8.1	(6.13;	10.05)	< 0.001
	Pasta (durum wheat, whole-							
63	grain)	26.4	(24.43;	28.36)	26.5	(23.64;	29.34)	n.s.
64	Noodles (egg)	20.0	(18.55;	21.41)	14.9	(12.79;	16.94)	< 0.001
65	Wheat bread, rolls	19.0	(17.95;	20.08)	12.1	(10.54;	13.63)	< 0.001
66	Rye-wheat bread	20.3	(18.91;	21.75)	14.2	(12.19;	16.31)	< 0.001
67	Wholemeal bread, rolls	29.8	(28.05;	31.65)	31.0	(28.35;	33.57)	n.s.
68	Crisp bread	1.0	(0.77;	1.25)	1.6	(1.28;	1.97)	< 0.01
69	Muesli and cornflakes	8.2	(7.36;	9.00)	7.3	(6.10;	8.48)	n.s.
70	Water (tap, mineral)	1292.7	(1247.12.	1338.25)	1538.1	(1472.05;	1604.23)	< 0.001

-				-			-
71	Coffee	620.6	(593.82; 647.	33) 548.9	(510.05;	587.66)	< 0.01
72	Tea (black, green)	92.5	(79.86; 105.	20) 112.3	(93.93;	130.68)	n.s.
73	Tea (fruit, herbal)	203.0	(170.60; 235.	39) 549.0	(502.04;	596.02)	< 0.001
74	Hot chocolate	14.5	(11.72; 17.2	9) 11.2	(7.14;	15.22)	n.s.
75	Fruit juice	51.2	(46.25; 56.0	3) 36.8	(29.65;	43.91)	< 0.01
76	Fruit juice spritzer	171.9	(154.24; 189.	57) 183.2	(157.53;	208.78)	n.s.
77	Fruit nectar	31.5	(28.07; 34.9	3) 15.1	(10.09;	20.04)	< 0.001
78	Vegetable juice	4.2	(3.26; 5.11)	2.8	(1.44;	4.12)	n.s.
79	Soft drinks	67.9	(59.86; 76.0	0) 26.2	(14.52;	37.93)	< 0.001
80	Light soft drinks	51.5	(41.75; 61.2) 53.9	(39.81;	68.02)	n.s.
81	Beer	107.1	(99.29; 114.	95) 24.5	(13.11;	35.82)	< 0.001
82	Beer (alcohol-free)	17.8	(15.05; 20.5	9) 7.8	(3.73;	11.77)	< 0.001
83	Wine	23.8	(21.56; 26.14	4) 26.4	(23.03;	29.67)	n.s.
84	Liqueur	0.3	(0.20; 0.32)	0.3	(0.17;	0.34)	n.s.
85	Spirits	1.3	(1.12; 1.43)	0.5	(0.29;	0.72)	< 0.001

^{\$} Mean daily intakes were adjusted for age

[§] P-values comparing the differences of mean food choices between male and female study participants using a two-sided t-test (P<0.05).

n.s. not significant

To assess the intake on a food group level and to compare intakes with the recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition, the 85 food items of the FFQ including the individual specified items mentioned above were classified in 39 food groups (see chapter 3.2., Table 2). Table 9 shows data of 37 food groups. Data of two food groups were reported by tiny number of study participants (processed plant products by 5 men and 2 women; sweeteners by 1 man and 2 women). Therefore, we did not include these results in Table 9. Table 9 presents age-adjusted means, 95% confidence intervals and p-values from the comparison between genders.

Significantly (p < 0.05) higher intakes for males compared to females were obtained for refined grains, baked goods, fast food and convenience products, legumes, potatoes, potato products, margarine, butter, other fats, high-fat dairy products, eggs, red and processed meat, low-fat meat products, fish, sauces and condiments, added sugar, beer, spirits, coffee, high-energy beverages and fruit juice. For the remaining food groups men reported lower daily intakes compared to women. Significant (p < 0.05) lower values in male subjects were only observed for vegetables, fruits, oil, low-fat dairy products and free-energy beverages.

Table 9: Reported mean daily intakes (g/d or ml/d) of sp	pecific food groups in male and female study
participants	

Food groups g/d or ml/d	М	ale (n = 1274)		Female (n = 613)			
	Mean ^{\$}	(95% CI)	Mean ^{\$}	(95% CI)	P – Value [§]		
Refined grains	102.2	(98.71; 105.6	D) 76	(70.99; 80.98)	<0.001		
Wholemeal products	71	(67.70; 74.29	67.5	(62.73; 72.29)	n.s		
Baked goods	24.9	(23.22; 26.61	20.2	(17.79; 22.70)	<0.01		
Fast Food and conveniences	24	(21.73; 26.30)	15.8	(12.52; 19.15)	<0.001		
Vegetables	152.4	(145.52; 159.2	5) 196.7	(186.74; 206.65)	<0.001		

Legumes	9.9	(9.07;	10.64)	7.8	(6.71;	8.99)	<0.01
Potatoes	58.5	(55.68;	61.41)	53.3	(49.18;	57.49)	<0.05
Potato products	28	(26.73;	29.31)	14.4	(12.55;	16.29)	< 0.001
Fruits	109.2	(102.53;	115.91)	151	(141.27;	160.68)	<0.001
Nuts and seeds	4.7	(4.18;	5.27)	5.6	(4.83;	6.41)	n.s
Margarine	4.2	(3.87;	4.53)	3	(2.54;	3.49)	<0.001
Butter	3.5	(3.17;	3.75)	2.7	(2.30;	3.15)	<0.01
Oil	4.4	(4.06;	4.64)	5.5	(5.05;	5.88)	< 0.001
Other fats	0.5	(0.39;	0.52)	0.2	(0.10;	0.29)	< 0.001
Low-fat dairy products	65.6	(59.73;	71.51)	89.2	(80.65;	97.74)	< 0.001
Low-fat cheese	6.2	(5.64;	6.70)	7	(6.26;	7.79)	n.s
High-fat dairy products	84	(78.14;	89.95)	67.5	(58.93;	76.07)	<0.01
High-fat cheese	8.3	(7.67;	8.86)	8.8	(7.98;	9.71)	n.s
Eggs	16.3	(15.45;	17.21)	13.6	(12.37;	14.91)	0.001
Red and processed meat							
products	96.2	(92.16;	100.26)	51.1	(45.25;	56.99)	<0.001
Low-fat meat products	72	(69.10;	74.84)	54.7	(50.55;	58.87)	<0.001
Fish	20.1	(18.95;	21.17)	17.7	(16.12;	19.33)	<0.05
Fish products and seafood	7.2	(6.62;	7.78)	6.9	(6.01;	7.70)	n.s
Soups and stews	50.2	(47.17;	53.28)	47.7	(43.25;	52.11)	n.s
Sauces and condiments	10.8	(10.17;	11.41)	7.5	(6.63;	8.41)	<0.001
Sweets	45.7	(43.02;	48.29)	46.3	(42.44;	50.07)	n.s
Salty snacks	48.1	(45.38;	50.73)	48.4	(44.56;	52.31)	n.s
Added sugar	3.7	(3.33;	3.98)	2.9	(2.40;	3.34)	<0.01
Vegetarian products	1.5	(0.80;	2.28)	1	(-0.07;	2.08)	n.s
Beer	108.7	(100.82;	116.54)	25.2	(13.81;	36.62)	< 0.001
Spirits	1.5	(1.36;	1.71)	0.8	(0.51;	1.00)	< 0.001
Wine	23.8	(21.56;	26.14)	26.4	(23.07;	29.71)	n.s
Free-energy beverages	1589.7	(1530.60;	1648.81)	2199.5	(2113.75;	2285.20)	<0.001
Low-energy beverages	224.5	(204.12;	244.97)	239.1	(209.47;	268.72)	n.s
Coffee	623.3	(596.44;	650.21)	550.4	(511.43;	589.41)	<0.01
High-energy beverages	118.4	(108.96;	127.77)	49	(35.41;	62.68)	<0.001
Fruit juice	55.6	(50.56;	60.70)	39.7	(32.32;	47.03)	< 0.001

^{\$} Mean values were adjusted for age

[§] P-values show the level for significance of the differences of mean daily intakes between male and female study participants by using a two-sided t-test (p < 0.05).

n.s. not significant

4.4.1. Dietary patterns of male and female study participants

Figure 3 and 4 are illustrating dietary patterns for foods and beverages of both genders. Because of a very low daily intake of both following food groups, other fats and vegetarian products, we did not include these in the figures. The vegetable and fruit groups reached the highest levels of consumed food, 261.6 g/d in men and 347.7 g/d in women. In male individuals refined grains, red and processed meat and high-fat dairy products (altogether 272.4 g/d) were in the second order of frequently consumed food groups. Foods of the following five frequently consumed food groups in

men were low-fat meat products, wholemeal products, low-fat dairy products, potatoes and soups and stews.

In descending order female individuals consumed vegetables and fruits most frequently (overall 212.7 g/d) followed by low-fat dairy products, refined grains and wholemeal products. In addition the next following five frequently consumed food groups in women were high-fat dairy products, low-fat meat products, potatoes, red and processed meat products and salty snacks.

The five mostly assessed beverages in male study participants (2664.6 ml/d) were in descending order free-energy beverages, coffee, low-energy beverages, high-energy beverages and beer. Female study participants mostly consumed free-energy beverages, coffee, low-energy beverages, high-energy beverages and fruit juice (altogether 3077.7 ml per day) in a descending order. More detailed, the most frequently consumed beverage in men was water followed by coffee, tea (fruit, herbal), fruit juice spritzer and beer. In women the mostly consumed beverage was also water followed by tea (fruit, herbal), coffee, fruit juice spritzer and tea (black, green) (Table 8).



Figure 3: Reported mean daily intake of foods (g/d) for male (n=1274) and female (n=613) study participants.





4.4.2. Food intake in different age groups

Figure 5 shows mean daily intakes and 95% CI for some typical foods of male and female study participants within three age groups. Effects of gender and age were calculated and included in the figures.

Reported intake of unprocessed meat was significantly different between male and female study participants in the age groups. In women the mean daily intake was similar in the 3 age groups, whereas in men the intake varied significantly (- 41.6 g/d) between the 3 age groups. The reported intake of poultry was lowest in the oldest age group. Additionally, the differences between age groups differed significantly between men and women (men: -41.2 g/d; women: -13.4 g/d). Men and women higher at age consumed more likely fish than the younger group of men and women (+9.5 g/d in male and +9.4 g/d in female). The reported daily intake of skim or low-fat milk, yoghurt and soured milk did not vary in age. Between men and women of the median and 95th percentile age group significantly differences of the reported intake of skim or low-fat milk, yoghurt and soured milk were reported (men: -20.3 g/d; women: -3.4 g/d). For both genders, the reported intake of low-fat butter was significantly different in all age groups. Men higher at age consumed larger (+ 0,2 g/d) and women at higher age consumed lower quantities (- 0.4 g/d) compared to those of the youngest age group. Chocolate was less likely consumed by male and female study participants higher at age compared the participants of the 5th percentile (men: -3.6 g/d; women: -7.9 g/d). The consumption of
added sugar was significantly lower in men and women higher at age compared to the youngest (men: -1.0 g/d; women: -3.0 g/d). Compared to men reported daily intake of fresh fruits was higher in females in all age groups and largest quantities were consumed in the oldest groups (men: +43.6 g/d; women: +51.7 g/d). Compared to the youngest age group women higher at age consumed less (-2.6 g/d) and men consumed more (+2.8 g/d) legumes a day. Mean daily intake of jacket potatoes were significantly different between the age groups in men and women. While male study participants showed similar intakes in the age groups, female study participants were more likely to consume jacket potatoes (+12.9 g/d) higher at age. Men and women higher at age consumed less French fries than those of the younger age groups (men: -11.0 g/d; women: -7.2 g/d). Younger study participants consumed more white rice (basmati, parboiled) than older participants (men: +11.6 g/d; women: +17.2 g/d). The intake of water (mineral and tap) showed significant differences for male and female individuals between the age groups. In female study participants only small differences between the age groups were assessed, whereas for male study participants a difference of – 422.4 ml/d between the youngest and the highest age group were reported. For both genders the reported consumption of coffee was largest in the highest age group compared to the age group of the 5th percentile (men: + 150.6 ml/d; women: + 207.9 ml/d). Male and female study participants higher at age were less likely to consume soft drinks than the younger participants (men: -82.2 ml/d; women: -48.7 ml/d). For the remaining food groups no significant differences between age groups were documented.





33









Figure 5: Differences for some regional reported food and beverage intakes within 3 age groups of male (M) and female (F) study participants.

Values are means and 95% CI. The 3 age groups describe the mean intakes adjusted for 28 years corresponding to 5^{th} percentile of age (male n=70, female n=62), 43 years corresponding to median age (male n=1142, female n=529) and 56 years corresponding to the 95^{th} percentile of age (male n=62, female n=22) of the study participants.

Test of effects (p-values) resulting from ANCOVA, using Bonferroni's correction for each variable. Two-sided t-tests were used to compare means for each age group and to identify significant differences (* < 0.05, ** < 0.01, *** < 0.001, n.s. not significant) across male and female study participants.

4.5. Frequency of food intake in male and female study participants

To describe the frequency of intake for the 85 food items of the FFQ we classified the six frequency categories used in the FFQ in 3 groups; never up to 3 times a month (less frequently), 1 - 2 times a week (moderately) and 3 times a day up to several times a day (most frequently). Table 10 shows the results separately for male and female study participants with P values for significant differences between genders.

The ten most frequently consumed foods in males were fresh fruits (64.8%), unprocessed meat (62.7%), cooked vegetables (53.1%), wholemeal bread and rolls (51.8%), low-fat processed sausage products (47.8%), wheat bread and rolls (41.9%), chocolate and chocolate bars (41.3%), raw vegetables (39.9%), added sugar (39.1%) and whole-fat milk, yoghurt and soured milk (38.3%). In females the ten most frequently consumed foods were fresh fruits (76.3%), cooked vegetables (57.8%), wholemeal bread and rolls (56.9%), raw vegetable (55.2%), oil (49.3%), chocolate and chocolate bars (49.3%), skim or low-fat milk, yogurt and soured milk (47.9%), low-fat processed sausage products (36.7%), whole-fat cheese (34.4%) and added sugar (33.4). Regarding to the beverage items, water (90.5%), coffee (82.5%), fruit juice spritzer (30.7%), fruit juice (24.2%) and fruit or herbal tea (23.1%) were the most frequently consumed beverages in men. In women the most

frequently consumed beverages were water (94.1%), coffee (83.4%), fruit or herbal tea (51.6%), fruit juice spritzer (31.6%) and black or green tea (27.9%). The less frequently reported food consumption in men and women was reported for potato fritters (0.6% vs. 0.5%), dumplings (1.0% vs. 0.5%), croquettes (1.9% vs. 0.5%), pancakes (0.7% vs. 1.5%) and puffed pastries (3.6% vs. 1.5%). Significant differences of the frequency of intake between male and female study participants were obtained for unprocessed meat, poultry, canned fish, eggs, high-fat processed sausage products, high-fat processed meat, chocolate and chocolate bars, margarine, mashed potatoes, wheat bread and rolls, tea (fruit and herbal) and beer. Thereby, men showed a higher consumption frequency for unprocessed meat, canned fish, eggs, high-fat sausage products, high-fat processed meat, margarine, mashed potatoes, wheat bread and rolls and beer compared to women. The consumption frequencies of poultry, chocolate and chocolate bars and tea (fruit and herbal) were higher in women compared to men.

FFQ 85		Frequency of intake						
ltem number	Food item	Neve tim mo	r to 3 es a nth	1-2 times per week		3-times per week to several times a day		P - value for trend ^{\$}
		М	F	М	F	м	F	
1	Meat, unprocessed	8.5	25.7	28.8	41.5	62.7	32.8	< 0.0001
2	Poultry	21.4	30.0	54.6	50.9	24.0	19.1	< 0.0001
3	Fish, unprocessed	57.3	59.4	39.7	38.8	3.1	1.8	0.789
4	Canned fish	95.1	97.4	4.2	2.5	0.6	0.2	< 0.05
5	Seafood and crustaceans	93.3	91.3	6.4	8.2	0.3	0.5	0.599
6	Eggs	22.2	27.4	49.9	50.1	27.8	22.5	< 0.05
7	Low-fat processed sausage products	29.3	35.5	23.0	27.8	47.8	36.7	0.355
8	High-fat processed sausage products	45.8	68.9	28.6	22.1	25.5	9.0	< 0.05
9	Low-fat processed meat	48.5	59.2	29.7	28.9	21.7	11.9	0.408
10	High-fat processed meat	69.6	85.9	19.5	11.0	10.9	3.1	< 0.01
11	Low-fat cheese	49.6	49.2	26.1	24.2	24.3	26.6	0.625
12	Whole-fat cheese	37.0	37.2	30.8	28.5	32.2	34.4	0.909
13	Skim or low-fat milk, yogurt, soured milk	49.1	36.4	16.5	15.7	34.4	47.9	0.547
14	Whole-fat milk, yogurt, soured milk	40.6	49.3	21.1	20.7	38.3	30.0	0.088
15	Low-fat quark	88.3	82.3	7.7	12.8	4.0	4.9	0.499
16	Cream quark	91.0	88.0	6.7	9.0	2.3	3.0	0.861
17	Buttermilk	94.1	93.5	3.0	3.6	2.9	2.9	0.698
18	Cream, condensed milk, sour cream, crème fraiche	64.2	72.7	11.2	15.5	24.5	11.8	0.235
19	lce-cream	82.3	87.3	15.3	11.9	2.4	0.8	0.450
20	Chocolate, chocolate bars	28.2	25.1	30.4	25.6	41.3	49.3	< 0.05
21	Pies	90.5	94.4	8.4	4.9	1.1	0.7	0.073
22	Cake, pound	90.2	92.8	8.7	6.5	1.1	0.7	0.569
23	Cake, yeast	95.8	97.4	4.0	2.6	0.2	0.0	0.810
24	Croissant	89.8	94.8	8.1	4.6	2.1	0.7	0.080

Table 10: Reported consumption frequencies of the 85 food items in the Food Frequency Questionnaire
(FFQ85) for male (M) and female (F) study participants.

_		1		_	-			
25	Puffed pastries	96.4	98.5	3.5	1.3	0.2	0.2	0.122
26	Pancakes	99.3	98.5	0.6	1.5	0.1	0.0	0.533
27	Cookies, butter	58.4	60.1	29.6	27.3	12.0	12.6	0.541
28	Cookies with chocolate	76.3	81.4	18.8	14.2	4.9	4.4	0.800
29	Nuts and seeds	73.1	70.9	18.3	17.3	8.7	11.8	0.773
30	Potato chips, peanut puffs or other salty snacks	76.4	77.8	19.7	17.8	3.9	4.4	0.488
31	Butter	51.6	59.5	12.8	13.2	35.6	27.3	0.068
32	Low-fat butter	90.8	89.2	3.0	3.4	6.2	7.4	0.323
33	Margarine	68.7	76.8	6.3	7.1	25.0	16.1	< 0.05
34	Low-fat margarine	67.7	69.1	5.0	7.2	27.4	23.7	0.752
35	Oil	28.9	17.5	35.3	33.2	35.8	49.3	0.481
36	Solid vegetable fat, Bacon	92.3	97.7	6.1	1.8	1.7	0.5	0.076
37	Fast Food	81.5	90.2	16.6	9.5	1.9	0.3	0.378
38	Soup, broth or thickened	81.3	77.5	15.8	19.3	2.9	3.3	0.368
39	Stew	86.4	90.4	12.9	9.6	0.8	0.0	0.295
40	Sauce	38.7	50.4	31.0	30.5	30.2	19.1	0.979
41	Fresh fruits	12.9	72	22.4	16.5	64.8	76.3	0 107
/2	Canned fruits	93.1	93.5	5.6	19	13	1.6	0.796
42	Dried fruits	91.3	88.9	13	7.4	1.5	2.8	0.750
43		32.7	37.0	21.2	21 1	25 5	21.0	0.700
44	Sugar	JE A	37.0 40 E	14 5	17.1	20.1	22.4	0.740
45	Sugar Water ice	40.4	49.5	14.5 F 2	17.1	59.1	1.0	0.425
40		70.9	94.9	20.0	4.1	0.5	11.0	0.058
47	Fruit gum	70.8	72.0	20.9	21.0	8.3 7.0	11.3	0.752
48		76.6	72.9	15.6	16.8	7.8	10.3	0.068
49	Vegetables, cooked	11.6	8.7	35.3	33.6	53.1	57.8	0.812
50	Vegetables, raw	20.8	11.3	39.3	33.6	39.9	55.2	0.085
51	Herbals	41.8	35.4	36.3	36.0	21.9	28.6	0.623
52	Legumes	72.6	/8.0	23.1	18.8	4.3	3.3	0.087
53	Jacket potatoes	80.8	72.9	17.1	22.9	2.1	4.2	0.050
54	Salted potatoes	40.3	49.6	42.0	38.5	17.7	11.9	0.899
55	Mashed potatoes	88.5	90.2	10.7	9.2	0.8	0.7	< 0.01
56	Dumplings (potatoes)	99.0	99.5	1.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.364
57	Croquettes (potato)	98.1	99.5	1.7	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.833
58	Fried potatoes	90.4	97.1	9.5	2.8	0.1	0.2	0.560
59	French fries	75.4	89.1	22.5	10.5	2.0	0.5	0.153
60	Potato fritters	99.4	99.5	0.5	0.5	0.1	0.0	0.602
61	White rice (basmati, parboiled)	41.2	50.1	46.4	41.7	12.4	8.2	0.724
62	Brown rice (whole-grain, natural)	82.8	87.2	14.1	11.8	3.1	1.0	0.592
63	Pasta (durum wheat, whole-grain)	52.4	49.5	37.8	40.8	9.8	9.7	0.247
64	Noodles (egg)	62.2	68.6	32.0	26.8	5.8	4.6	0.901
65	Wheat bread, rolls	21.2	36.6	37.0	39.0	41.9	24.4	< 0.05
66	Rye-wheat bread	37.4	52.1	25.9	21.7	36.7	26.2	0.563
67	Wholemeal bread, rolls	18.7	16.5	29.6	26.6	51.8	56.9	0.071
68	Crisp bread	89.7	83.5	6.0	8.2	4.2	8.3	0.127
69	Muesli and cornflakes	65.4	65.0	14.4	12.9	20.1	22.1	0.925
70	Water (tap, mineral)	5.3	3.3	4.2	2.6	90.5	94.1	0.226
71	Coffee	14.1	13.2	3.4	3.4	82.5	83.4	0.171
72	Tea (black, green)	66.6	60.8	11.5	11.3	21.9	27.9	0.202
73	Tea (fruit, herbal)	63.1	36.4	13.8	11.9	23.1	51.6	< 0.0001
74	Hot chocolate	88.2	91.5	6.7	4.4	5.1	4.1	0.813
75	Fruit juice	53.7	60.9	22.2	22.1	24.2	17.0	0.696
76	Fruit juice spritzer	51.4	46.0	18.0	22.3	30.7	31.6	0.450
	1							

		_						
77	Fruit nectar	65.6	81.7	20.3	11.9	14.1	6.4	0.621
78	Vegetable juice	96.1	96.4	2.6	2.4	1.3	1.1	0.753
79	Soft drinks	69.5	85.9	14.6	8.2	15.9	5.9	0.571
80	Light soft drinks	82.5	80.1	7.2	8.7	10.3	11.3	0.633
81	Beer	47.9	84.3	32.8	13.2	19.2	2.5	< 0.01
82	Beer (alcohol-free)	91.4	96.1	5.9	2.8	2.7	1.1	0.096
83	Wine	69.7	60.1	21.2	27.1	9.1	12.7	0.087
84	Liqueur	98.4	98.2	1.4	1.8	0.2	0.0	0.384
85	Spirits	90.7	97.1	8.1	2.8	1.2	0.2	0.329

^{\$} Data were analysed with an ordinal regression model.

4.6. Food intake amounts and frequency of intake compared to the national nutritional recommendations [62]

4.6.1. Foods rich in carbohydrates

This food group contains bread and rolls, cereal products, rice and pasta as well as potatoes and potato products like French fries or mashed potatoes. The recommendation by the German Society of Nutrition of 4 servings a day from this food group was achieved by a minority of 1.3 - 5.8% women and 1.4 - 4.3% men, calculated only by item numbers 65-67 of the FFQ85 (data not shown). The reported mean consumption of 70.1 g/d in men and 48.9 g/d in women for bread (items 65-67) were far below the recommendation of 200-300 g bread a day. Assuming a standard weight of 50g for one slice of bread men consumed just 1.5 and women only one slice of bread per day. Intakes of 180.3 g/d in men and 139.1 g/d in women for potatoes, potato products, rice, pasta or other cereal products also were below the recommended intakes of 200 - 250 g/d (Table 8).

4.6.2. Fruits and vegetables

Legumes, mushrooms, cooked and raw vegetables, processed plant products as well as fresh fruits belonging to the group of fruits and vegetables. 23.5% of female and 12.9% of male study participants consumed several times per day one serving of fresh fruits (data not shown), coming up to a mean daily intake of 151.0 g/d for females and 109.2 g/d for males (Table 9). The recommendations of either 2 fruit portion per day or at minimum 250g fruits per day were not reached.

The reported mean intakes for vegetables of 162.4 g/d for men and 204.7 g/d for women (calculated by the food groups vegetables, legumes and processed plant products; Table 9) and consumption frequencies for several times a day of 0.2 - 2.9% in men and women (data not shown) were below the recommended intakes of the German Society of Nutrition with at minimum 400 g/d or 3 portions a day. 42.3% of men and 47.6% of women reported naturally raw vegetables on a daily basis (Table 8).

4.6.3. Milk, dairy products and cheese

This group contains skim and whole fat milk and dairy products like yogurt, curd cheese and soured milk as well as skim or low-fat and whole fat cheese, buttermilk, creamer, condensed milk and sour cream. The German Society of Nutrition [62] is recommending 3 servings a day of this food group. Only 0.2-8.1% of female and 0.1-4.2% of male study participants have reached this target considering the FFQ items 11-18 (data not shown). The reported mean daily intake of milk, dairy products and cheese of 164.1 g/d in men and 172.5 g/d in women were below the recommended 250 – 310 g milk and dairy products a day by the Nutrition Society (Table 9). Around half of the study population (44 – 56%) consumed the recommended low-fat milk products (Table 9).

4.6.4. Meat and meat products, fish and eggs

The group of meat and meat products is containing all kinds of red meat (lamb, beef and pork), innards, white meat from poultry, as well as low and high fat sausage products. Regarding to all these foods, a daily intake of 168.2 g/d for men and 105.8 g/d for women was reported (Table 9) is exceeding the weekly recommendation of 300 - 600g meat and meat products (43 - 85 g/d) of the German Society of Nutrition. In particular, male individuals reported almost twice as much as recommended; 1177g meat per week for men and 740.6 g meat per week for women. 42.8% of male and 51.7% of female study participants reported an intake of low fat or white meat.

Fish, canned fish, seafood and crustaceans, fish salad as well as fish dishes were also assessed, summarized to the group of fish. 16% of male and 13% of female study participants did not consume fish within the 4-week time range of reporting (Table 13). Almost corresponding to the recommended quantity of 150 -200 g fish per week (21 - 29 g/d) the mean daily intake of fish was assessed at 27.8 g/d in men and 24.6 g/d in women (Table 9). Men and women preferred most likely to consume pollack or tuna. Oily fish like herring, mackerel or salmon was reported by 52.9% of male and 37.6% of female study participants (Table 13).

Boiled, fried and scrambled eggs were pooled to the group of eggs. Mean reported daily intake of eggs was 16.3 g/d in men and 13.6 g/d in women (Table 9). Assuming a standard weight of 60g for a single egg, men consumed about 2 eggs and women 1.5 eggs a week. However, the calculation of the overall intake of egg did not take into account that many products like for example cake, cookies, pies and fresh pasta are containing eggs. For this reason results according to the egg intake are rather underestimated.

4.6.5. Fats

The reported mean daily intake for spreadable fat (butter and margarine) in men and women was 7.7 g/d respectively 5.7 g/d. Daily intake of oils was 4.4 g/d in men and 5.5 g/d in women. It has to be

considered that fat which was used for the preparation of meals was not assessed separately and therefore did not account in the calculation.

Nuts botanically classified as fruits but due to their high amount of fat, evaluated in the group of fats. One serving a day (20g) is recommended by the German Nutrition Society. Only a tiny percentage of participants (2.5% of male vs. 4.2% of female) reported one serving nuts a day (data not shown). The average daily intake of nuts was done to only 4.7 g/d in men and 5.6 g/d in women (Table 9).

4.6.6. Beverages

A daily intake of at least 1.5 L preferably free-energy or low-energy beverages is highly recommended by the DGE. In average male study participants consumed 2.6 L and female study participants 3.1 L alcohol-free beverages per day (Table 9). The mean daily water intake was almost half of the overall liquid intake for both genders. Consumed coffee was up to 28.3% of the overall beverage intake in male versus 17.8% in female study participants (Table 8).

The average intake of alcoholic beverages was 134.0 ml/d in men and 52.4 ml/d in women (Table 9). Calculating the mean daily alcohol intake men consumed 6.9 g and women 3.5 g alcohol per day (Table 5). The intake in both genders was below the upper limits for daily alcohol intake of 20g in male and 10g in female individuals according to the above mentioned guidelines.

4.6.7. Dietary patterns

The reported foods were classified to the recommended food groups of the DGE guidelines in order to survey the reported LUPS dietary patterns compared to the DGE recommendations on a daily basis. Table 11 shows the recommended food groups arranged in descending order: carbohydrate rich foods, vegetables, milk and milk products, fruits, meat and meat products. The reported dietary patterns of female individuals did fit to the recommendations of the DGE, whereas for male individuals the reported intake of meat and meat products was above and the intake of vegetables was below the DGE guidelines.

	Recommendations of the DGE [62]	Male ^{\$} (n=1274)	Female ^{\$} (n=613)
Carbohydrate rich foods	400 - 550 g/d 200-300g bread and 200-250 potatoes or pasta or 150 -180g rice	259	211
Vegetables	≥ 400 g/d 300g cooked + 100g raw vegetable or 200g cooked + 200g raw vegetable	162	205

Table 11: Daily dietary patterns of male and female study participants in comparison to the recommendationsof the German Society of Nutrition (DGE) [62]

Milk and milk products	300 g/d 200 - 250g milk or dairy products and 50g cheese	164	173
Fruits	≥ 250g/d	109	151
Meat and meat products	per week: 300-600g (43- 85g/d)	168	106
Fish	per week: 150 - 200g (21 - 29g/d)	27	25
Eggs	per week: 1-3 eggs	2.0	1.5
Free-energy beverages	1500 ml/d	2612	3078

^{\$} Mean daily intake in g/d or ml/d

4.7. Use of dietary supplements, sweeteners, dietetic foods and specific foods influencing lipid and glucose metabolism

4.7.1. Use of dietary supplements, sweeteners and dietetic foods in male and female study participants

In Table 12 numbers of supplement use, use of sweeteners and dietetic food are presented. The use of dietary supplements, sweeteners and dietetic food was significantly higher in women than in men. 25.3% of male individuals reported mineral supplement use, composed of 72% use of magnesium, 16% use of calcium, 9% use of zinc and 10% use of multi-mineral supplements. Female individuals reported a 32.5% use of mineral supplements. Women were taken predominantly magnesium (59%), followed by calcium (26%), multi-mineral-supplements (13%) and zinc (6%). Vitamin supplement use was reported by 13% of male and 15.8 of female study participants. The highest contribution of vitamin supplements (39% and 40%). Poly supplementation (including minerals and vitamins) was reported by 10% of male and 13.4% of female individuals of the LUPS cohort. In men, the probability for the use of mineral and poly-supplements was significantly lower than in women (OR 0.70 (95% CI 0.57; 0.87) for mineral supplements and OR 0.72 (95% CI 0.53; 0.97) for poly-supplements, whereas for vitamin use no significant difference was shown between men and women.

The use of artificial sweeteners was reported by 11.5% male and 20.9% female study participants. Predominantly saccharin was used (men 41%; women 40%) followed by cyclamate (men 26%; women 21%) and aspartame (men 8%; women 9%). The use of sugar substitutes reported 1.2% male and 2.5% female study participants. The most frequently reported sugar substitute was fructose (n=6). Four study participants reported the use of agave syrup to replace sucrose. Compared to female study participants male study participants showed a significant lower probability for the use of artificial sweeteners (OR 0.49 (95% CI 0.37; 0.63)) and sugar substitutes (OR 0.48 (95% CI 0.23; 0.99)).

43

The use of dietetic food was reported by 2.4% of men and 4.6% of women. The use of low-calorie food (light - products) was reported more frequently. Among men, 36% and among women 52.5% reported low-calorie food use. The probability of dietetic food and low-calorie food use in men is significantly lower compared to women (OR 0.52 (95% CI 0.31; 0.87)) for dietetic foods and (OR 0.51 (95% CI 0.42; 0.62)) low-calorie foods.

Table 12: Use of supplements, artificial sweetener	s, sugar substitutes and dietetic foods in male and female
study participants.	

	Men [#] (n=1274)	Women [#] (n=613)	P-Value [§]	OR ^{\$}
Use of mineral supplements [e.g.	(11-12/4)	(11-013)		
magnesium, calcium, selenium]	25.3	32.5	< 0.01	0.702
Use of vitamin supplements	13.0	15.8	n.s.	0.797
Use of poly supplements (including				
minerals and vitamins)	10.0	13.4	< 0.05	0.72
Use of artificial sweeteners	11.5	20.9	< 0.0001	0.485
Use of sugar substitutes	1.2	2.5	< 0.05	0.481
Use of dietetic foods	2.4	4.6	< 0.05	0.515
Use of low-calorie foods (light- products)	36.0	52.5	< 0.0001	0.511

[#] Percentages of population are given for dichotomous variables

[§] Differences were analysed with a logistic regression model.

^{\$} OR (odds ratio) describe the probability for the use of supplements, artificial sweeteners, sugar substitutes and dietetic foods by male compared to female study participants. n.s. not significant

4.7.2. Use of specific foods influencing lipid and glucose metabolism in males and females of the study

The proportion of individuals consuming foods like oils, nuts, fish and margarines which may – depending on quantities and consumption frequencies - influence lipid and/or glucose metabolism negatively or positively are presented in Table 13.

Male individuals were more likely to have no use of oil (OR 2.35 (95% CI 1.09; 5.08)). In both sexes, the three most used oils were olive oil (men 83.7%; women 86.5%) followed by sunflower oil (men 56.9%; women 55.3%) and rapeseed oil (men 24.5%; women 35.1%). The probability for the use of rapeseed oil and other kinds of oils was significantly lower in men compared to women (OR 0.59 (95% CI 0.48; 0.73) for rapeseed oil and OR 0.66 (95% CI 0.45; 0.97) for other oils). Further kinds of oils used by the study participants were pumpkin seed oil (2.0%), sesame oil (1.3%) and walnut oil (1%) in men and pumpkin seed oil (3.9%), linseed oil (1.6%) and sesame oil (1.3%) in women.

The percentage of study participants who did not consume nuts was higher in men than in women (16.6% vs. 12.2%). In men the highest consumption was reported for peanuts (55.7%), followed by cashews (45.5%) and walnuts (36.9%). Among women the highest consumption was reported for

cashews (53.7%), walnuts (43.7%) and peanuts (42.6%). Further kinds of nuts reported by the study participants were macadamia (4.5%), almonds (3.5%) and pistachios (2.5%) in male and almonds (8.8%), macadamia (7%) and brazil nuts (3.5%) in female individuals. In men the probability for the consumption of cashews, walnuts and other nuts was significantly lower compared to women (OR 0.59 (95% CI 0.59; 0.90) for cashews, OR 0.74 (95% CI 0.61; 0.91) for walnuts and OR 0.59 (95% CI 0.45; 0.76) for other nuts), whereas the probability for the consumption of peanuts was significantly higher compared to women (OR 1.70 (95% 1.41; 2.10)).

7.4% of male and 6.2% of female individuals reported to eat no fish at all. In men the most reported kinds of fish were Pollack (62.9%), tuna (42.1%) and herring (31.6%). Women reported also the highest consume for Pollack (63.6%) and tuna (42.7%) followed by redfish (35.6%). Other reported fish in men and women were salmon (8.9% vs. 11.1%), plaice (3.0% vs. 5.1%) as well as cod (2.8%) in men and gilthead (3.9%) in women. Significantly different probabilities for the consumption between men and women were shown for herring (OR 2.11 (95% CI 1.66; 2.68), mackerel (OR 1.45 (95% CI 1.05; 2.01), redfish (OR 0.72 (95% CI 0.59; 0.89) and zander (OR 0.62 (95% CI 0.48; 0.81).

Of the study cohort 37.6% men and 39.5% women did not use margarine. In individuals using margarine the most frequently consumption was seen for soft margarines (men 37.9%; women 28.7%), margarines including polyunsaturated fatty acids (men 16.1%; women 18.8%) or dietetic margarines (men 16%; women 17.1%). In men, the probability for the use of soft margarine was significantly higher compared to women (OR 1.52 (95% CI 1.23; 1.87)). Other kinds of margarines consumed by the study participants were low-fat margarines (men 1.2%; women 2.6%), *Lätta*[®] (men 1.2%; women 2.4%) and *Becel*[®] (men 1.1%; women 1.8%).

Food items	Men (n=1274) [#]	Women (n=613) [#]	P-Value [§]	OR ^{\$}
Consumption of oils				
No Oil	3.0	1.3	< 0.05	2.35
Thistle oil	6.0	7.3	n.s.	0.78
Peanut oil	3.2	4.2	n.s.	0.76
Germ oil	7.2	6.0	n.s.	1.21
Olive oil	83.7	86.5	n.s.	0.80
Rapeseed oil	24.5	35.1	< 0.0001	0.59
Soya oil	2.3	2.3	n.s.	0.99
Sunflower oil	56.9	55.3	n.s.	1.07
Other oils	5.3	7.8	< 0.05	0.66
Which other oils do you use?	Pumpkin seed oil (2.0%)	Pumpkin seed oil (3.9%)		
	Sesame oill (1.3%)	Linseed oil (1.6%)		
	Walnut oil (1.0%)	Sesame oil (1.3%)		
Consumption of nuts				
No Nuts	16.6	12.2	n.s.	1.45
Cashew	45.5	53.7	< 0.01	0.72
Peanuts	55.7	42.6	< 0.0001	1.70

Table 13: Use of specific foods influencing the lipid and glucose metabolism in male and female study participants.

Hazelnut	25.4	23.0	n.s.	1.14
Walnuts	36.9	43.7	< 0.01	0.74
Other nuts	11.7	18.4	< 0.0001	0.59
Which other nuts do you use?	Macadamia (4.5%)	Almonds (8.8%)		
	Almonds (3.5%)	Macadamia (7.0%)		
	Pistachios (2.5%)	Brazil nuts (3.5%)		
Consumption of fish				
No fish	7.4	6.2	n.s.	1.25
Trout	28.4	26.4	n.s.	1.09
Herring	31.6	17.9	< 0.0001	2.11
Carp	1.6	2.4	n.s.	0.64
Mackerel	12.4	8.8	< 0.05	1.45
Redfish	28.9	35.6	< 0.01	0.72
Pollack	62.9	63.6	n.s.	0.97
Tuna	42.2	42.7	n.s.	0.98
Zander	12.4	18.4	< 0.0001	0.62
Other fish	17.6	18.8	n.s.	0.92
Which other fish species do you use?	Salmon (8.9%)	Salmon (11.1%)		
	Plaice (3.0%)	Plaice (5.1%)		
	Cod (2.8%)	Gilthead (3.9%)		
Consumption of margarines				
No margarine	37.6	39.5	n.s.	0.93
Use of hard margarine (not immediately				
spreadable)	3.6	2.9	n.s.	1.24
Use of soft margarine (immediately				
spreadable)	37.9	28.7	< 0.0001	1.52
Use of margarine fortified with				
polyunsaturated fatty acids	16.1	18.8	n.s.	0.82
Use of margarine fortified with olive oil	8.9	10.9	n.s.	0.79
Use of dietetic margarine	16.0	17.1	n.s.	0.92
Use of other kinds of margarines	5.3	6.4	n.s.	0.81
Which other margarines do you use?	Low-fat margarine (1.2%)	Low-fat margarine (2.6%)		
	Lätta [®] (1.2%)	Lätta [®] (2.4%)		
	Becel [®] (1.1%)	Becel [®] (1.8%)		

[#] Percentages of population are given for dichotomous variables

[§] Differences were analysed with a logistic regression model.

^{\$} OR (odds ratio) describe the probability for the use of these specific foods by male compared to female study participants.

n.s. not significant

4.7.3. Use of supplements, sweeteners and sugar substitutes, dietetic foods and specific foods

influencing lipid and glucose metabolism in different age groups

To analyse the use of supplements and specific foods in different age groups we subdivided the study participants in four age ranges, first \leq 30 years (145 males and 94 females), second 31 - 40 years (364 males and 158 females), thirty 41 - 50 years (520 males and 246 females) and fourth 51 - 60 years (245 males and 115 females). The use of vitamin or poly supplements in men was decreased by age, whereas mineral supplements showed a slightly increase (Figure 6). The highest use of poly supplements in women was reported in the second range between 31 - 40 years (18.6%), the highest use of mineral and vitamin supplements was reported between 51 - 60 years.



Figure 6: Use of supplements within four age groups, stratified by gender.

Reported intake of artificial sweeteners was increased in male (\leq 30 years 8.3%; 51-60 years 12.7%) and female (\leq 30 years 16.3%; 51-60 years 19.8%) study participants by age. Women used higher amounts of sweeteners compared to men. The highest use of sweeteners in men was reported for the age range between 51-60 years (12.7%) and in women between 41-50 years (24.8%). Reported use of sugar substitutes was lower compared to the use of sweeteners and decreased age based (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Use of artificial sweeteners and sugar substitutes within four age groups, stratified by gender.

Reported consumption of dietetic foods (Figure 8) in men and women was marginal observing a small increase in older men (\leq 30 years 2.7%; 51-60 years 4.1%). In women reported intake (\leq 30 years 3.3%; 51-60 years 3.5%) showed the highest consumption in the range between 41-50 years (7.3%). Reported intake of low-calorie foods was higher in women than in men. In men and women the highest intake was reported in the age group \leq 30 years (41.4% for male and 63.0% for female study participants). Among both genders the reported intakes were lowest in the age group 51 – 60 years (men: \leq 30 years 41.4%; 51-60 years 31.7% and women: \leq 30 years 63.0%; 51-60 years 41.8%).



Figure 8: Use of dietetic and low-caloric foods within four age groups, stratified by gender.

The three most consumed oils were olive oil, sunflower oil and rapeseed oil. No definite differences for the consumed oils except for rapeseed oil were seen between age groups (Figure 9). The highest use of rapeseed oil in men was reported in the age group of 31-40 years (27.5%). In women the reported consumption of rapeseed oil was increased by age, with the highest reported use in the age range between 41-50 years (39.4%). The highest intake of thistle oil in male and female individuals was reported in the age group of 51 - 60 years with 12.2% in male and 11.3% in female study participants.



Figure 9: Reported consumption of different oils within four age groups, stratified by gender.

Mostly peanuts, cashews and walnuts were reported in descending order by male individuals. Female individuals reported preferably cashews, followed by walnuts and peanuts. In men, the reported intake of cashews and hazelnuts were highest in the age range between 51 - 60 years (cashews: ≤ 30 years 41.8% and 51-60 years 50.8%; hazelnuts: ≤ 30 years 21.9% and 51-60 years 31.3%), women reported an almost consistent intake in the different age groups (cashews: ≤ 30 years 56.3%; hazelnuts: ≤ 30 years 25.5% and 51-60 years 21.7%). In men the consumption of peanuts increased by age (≤ 30 years 47.9% and 51-60 years 53.7%) and was highest in the age range between 41 - 50 years (59.6%). The highest intake of peanuts in women was reported by 50.0% in the age group of ≤ 30 years. In men and women the intake of walnuts was highest in the age range between 51 - 60 years (men 47.2%; women 54.8%), however female study participants reported a high intake already at age ≤ 30 years (46.8%).



Figure 10: Reported consumption of different nuts divided into four age groups, stratified by gender.

In general, the reported patterns of fish consumption were similar in male and female study participants (Figure 11). The percentage of individuals consuming no fish was highest in the youngest age between 25 to 30 years for both genders (men 8.2%; women 8.5%). In men and women reported consumption of trout, herring and redfish was highest in the age range between 51 - 60 years. Reported intake of pollack was high compared to the other kinds of fish, but was slightly lower in the age between 51 - 60 years, in both gender (\leq 30 years 65.8% and 51-60 years 59.3% for men, \leq 30 years 71.3% and 51-60 years 60.0% for women). In all age groups tuna was reported in a similar range in male and female study participants (\leq 30 years 44.5% and 51-60 years 39.0% for men, \leq 30 years 43.6% and 51-60 years 41.7% for women).



Figure 11: Reported consumption of different fish species within four age groups, stratified by gender.

The percentage amount of study participants who reported to consume no margarine was high with a slight decrease in the older age groups, in both genders (Figure 12). Soft margarine was - except for women between 51 - 60 years – the most reported kind of margarine in both genders. The consumption of margarine fortified with PUFAs was highest in the age range between 51 - 60 years, in both genders (\leq 30 years 10.3% and 51-60 years 22.8% for men, \leq 30 years 12.8% and 51-60 years 27.8% for women). Further, the consumption of soft, dietetic and other kinds of margarine was increased in the higher age groups in male study participants (\leq 30 years 33.6% and 51-60 years 35.4% for soft margarine; \leq 30 years 17.1% and 51-60 years 22.0% for dietetic margarine; \leq 30 years 5.5% and 51-60 years 7.7% for other kinds of margarine). In women, the intake of soft margarine was lowest in the age range between 51 - 60 years (\leq 30 years 37.2% and 51-60 years 26.1%). In the higher age groups, reported consumption of hard margarine was lower in male (\leq 30 years 6.8% and 51-60 years 2.0%) and higher in female (\leq 30 years 1.1% and 51-60 years 5.2%) study participants.



Figure 12: Reported consumption of different margarines within four age groups, stratified by gender.

5. Discussion

Only a few prospective observational studies evaluated the quality of dietary intake in a so called healthy workers cohort regarding to the development of the MetS. The present examination assessed energy and nutrient intake in 1.962 individuals recruited in Hamburg, Germany. Between November 2008 and June 2012 data on dietary patterns, the use of supplements and specific foods which may have an influence on the glucose and lipid metabolism were collected.

Nutrition is a major factor either in prevention or in the treatment of the MetS, its single components and secondary diseases [11,12,63,64]. In addition to an energy-balanced diet, an adequate intake of carbohydrates and fibres and a limited intake of fats, particular saturated and trans fatty acids is recommended by national and international nutritional societies [11,12,62-64]. A vegetable rich diet reduced in animal based products is recommended by several nutrition organisations for the prevention and treatment of the MetS and its secondary diseases like T2D and CVD [11,12,62-64]. In order to achieve an accurate baseline data set we used a self-administered food frequency questionnaire. Certain food and beverage items as well as portions sizes of every single item were reported by each study participant over a time range of the previous four weeks. FFQs are established instruments to assess habitual dietary patterns and trends within the nutritional intake in prospective studies. The FFQ85 used in our study enables a semi-quantitative assessment of the habitual dietary pattern within a defined time interval. Due to missing nutritional data only 23 (1,2%) of the FFQs obtained from our study participants have been excluded from the analysis. This result is demonstrating high compliance in completing the questionnaire. Feasibility of the FFQ was analysed in previous studies [94-96].

The distribution of male and female study participants in our cohort consisted of 67.7% male individuals and is not representative for the German population (49% men) [97]. Study participants were recruited from the predominantly male staff of the Lufthansa Technik Company. Mean age of 42.4 years in male versus 41.9 years in female study participants and the age distribution is matching quite well to the National Nutrition Survey II (NVS) and the *Mikrozensus* 2011 data sets in Germany [65,97]. In our cohort, the prevalence of the MetS according to the Joint Statement definition [9], was 20.4% in male and 11.8% in female individuals. Compared to previous German surveys the prevalence of the MetS in the here discussed data set is ranking below [45,47,48]. However, some studies have shown similar results. Moebus et al. published a regional prevalence of the MetS around 20.0% for male and 14.3% female individuals [46] and Balkau et al. described a prevalence of 18% for

men and 14% for women in a French population [98]. As mentioned above, the prevalence of the MetS is largely affected by the underlying definition. Continents, countries and even various regions in these countries have shown regarding to their population, huge differences for the prevalence of the MetS. This effect is influenced by age and sex distribution as well as the social economic status of the individuals [50,98-101]. Compared to former German studies we measured a rather high prevalence of elevated blood pressure, triglycerides and waist circumference in male individuals and increased blood pressure, waist circumference and reduced HDL cholesterol in female individuals. Compared to the German SHIP study, the distribution of the single components of the MetS was similar to our cohort, though at a lower range [48]. The high prevalence of elevated blood pressure levels, mentioned above was documented in previous studies [99,101]. Regarding to all five components of the MetS fasting glucose has shown an overall lowest prevalence in our cohort. This is in line with results observed in SHIP [48], yet not matching to data of other European data sets, which measured the lowest prevalence for low HDL cholesterol or high triglycerides, particularly in women [46,98].

5.1. Nutritional patterns of the LUPS cohort compared to results from national nutrition surveys in Germany

5.1.1. Energy intake

An energy balanced diet is highly recommended to individuals at risk for MetS. To avoid weight gain, energy intake should be adjusted to the individual energy expenditure. For this reason, not merely the amount of food intake but also the composition of the diet has an enormous impact on outcome criteria like e.g. weight or lipid levels.

Previous nutrition surveys, the German Bundesgesundheitssurvey 1998 (BGS) [66] and the National Nutrition Survey 2006 [65] showed higher levels of daily energy intake ranging from 10.5 to 10.9 MJ/d in men and 7.5 to 7.7 MJ/d in women, whereas reported energy intake in our cohort ranged from 7.19 MJ/ d in men to 5.98 MJ/d in women. To better understand these results we have performed further analysis regarding on portion sizes and the frequency of food intake. Study participants could choose the portion sizes small, medium or large for each food item. More than 90% of the cohort reported either the serving size "small" or "medium". We detected a positive correlation of serving size to energy intake, BMI and waist circumference (data not shown). Considering total food intake also includes frequency of food consumption we have analysed the eating frequency of some basic food items [102]. With regard to the frequency of intake of bread, rolls or muesli, only 9.4 to 19.4% of male and 8.3 to 24% of female study participants consumed at least once a day these foods. A daily consumption of vegetables and fruits was reported by 7.9 – 36.6

% of men and 13.9 – 53.7% of women only. The eating frequency of butter and margarine for at least once a day was reported by 10.3 – 23.3 % of our cohort and for unprocessed meat only by 6.5 – 15.7% of the study participants. Based on these facts we came to the conclusion, that study participants tended to underestimate portion size and eating frequency. Further analysis were done to identify reasons for low energy values, calculating the ratio of energy intake/ basal metabolic rate (EI:BMR ratio) [103,104]. Thereby > 80% of the cohort can be classified as under-reporters according to the Goldberg cut-off of EI:BMR ratio 1.14 [103]. No associations between EI:BMR ratio and BMI or waist circumference were observed in the present data set as also reported in other studies [105-107].

The quality of assessment of habitual dietary intake via a FFQ is depending on many aspects. Characteristics of the study population, the number of food items included in the selected FFQ, the given time frame asking about intake (e.g. 4 weeks up to 1 year), the kind of administration (self- or interviewer-administered) and the method to describe portion sizes [e.g. food photographs), they all have an impact on the resulting data [106-110]. There are no fixed rules about the number of items of a FFQ. Though the more detailed questionnaire is used, the more overestimating of intake is observed. The selection of food items depends on what should be assessed. For instance assessment of vitamin and mineral intake, FFQ items can be limited to foods which supply these micronutrients [106-110]. In case the whole habitual nutritional pattern should be evaluated the FFQ items should cover a broad spectrum of foods and food groups usually consumed in the region by comparable individuals [111,112]. The average number of items used in FFQs is 88 [113]. The FFQ85 implemented in our cohort is taking into account typical German food and food groups and additionally gives the opportunity to report food items which are not included in the FFQ85.

Memory lacks may play a role within all retrospective dietary assessments [108,110]. To reduce memory lacks we choose a time period of 4 weeks. To avoid possible incompleteness of answers in the self-administered FFQ trained nutrition experts checked each FFQ for completeness and plausibility. An incorrect estimation of consumed portion sizes is the most frequent measurement error in almost every dietary assessment method [108]. Although several types of portion size measurement assistances like for example food images of typical serving sizes presenting a small, medium or large portion or, household measures, food photographs or rather food models do exist, the reported estimated portion size tend to be imprecise [108,110,113]. In our cohort, we offered to include portion sizes for all foods and beverages (small, medium or large) to simplify the completion of the FFQ85 and therefore reduce respondent burden and to analyse the reporting pattern [90,102,108,109]. Interestingly we found conclusive patterns of reporting. On average, men reported more frequently greater portion sizes than women. Male and female participants at higher age have reported to choose more frequently smaller portion sizes than participants of younger age groups.

Moreover, individuals having a higher BMI and a higher waist circumference reported larger serving sizes than individuals with lower BMI and lower waist circumference. Thus, study participants who are female, at higher age and reduced weight reported more frequently small portion sizes and study participants who are male, at younger age and overweight reported more often large portion sizes. This is in accordance with the reported daily energy intake in our cohort, but does not reflect results of other studies [105-107].

In general, the strength of a semi-quantitative FFQ is more likely to assess dietary patterns and nutritional changes in follow-up trials within large prospective epidemiological studies than the absolute estimates of total energy intake. The relatively low energy intake reported in our cohort is either showing limitations of the dietary assessment method or reveals an attitude of the employees at Lufthansa Technik Company aiming to report socially desired dietary intakes. Despite that, the estimated dietary pattern of the cohort indicates plausibility and is in accordance with the nutritional patterns assessed in the NVS II. To adjust for total energy intake statistical procedures with simple factor corrections can be applied [90].

5.1.2. Intake of nutrients

The role of a high carbohydrate intake for the prevention of the metabolic syndrome and its risk factors is subject to a permanent controversial discussion [16,75,76]. The present study showed a higher intake of carbohydrates and dietary fibre in women than in men. This fact has also been observed in other previous German studies (men: 44% in BGS vs. 45% in NVS II vs. 44% in LUPS; women: 47% in BGS vs. 49% in NVS II vs. 46% in LUPS). Although the consumption of carbohydrates and dietary fibre in women was higher than in men and increased in both genders at higher age, it did not reach the recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition [62]. The higher intake of carbohydrates and dietary fibre in women was accompanied by a lower intake of meat, meat products and beer and a higher intake of fruits and vegetables as well as of cereal products, especially wholegrain products.

In comparison to former studies in Germany we observed an increase of reported protein intake by + 4.2% in men and + 3.4% in women (men: 15.3% in BGS vs. 14% in NVS II vs. 18.2% in LUPS; women: 15.3% in BGS vs. 14% in NVS II vs. 17.4% in LUPS). Detriments to health by a diet rich in proteins are actually not known for healthy individuals. However, a diet rich in proteins mostly goes in line with an increased intake of animal protein and thereby with a higher intake of fat and cholesterol which may increase the risk for T2D, CHD and CVD [73,74,114]. Studies evaluating methods to lose weight recently showed beneficial effects also for diets high in protein [71,72,115,116] and some public magazines or media advertised diets rich in proteins to reduce overweight. However, most of the diets named "low-carbohydrate" or "protein-rich" varied in the composition of nutrients and were

56

therefore in some cases not comparable. Yet studies did not show long-term effects of weight loss [71,72,116]. In addition long-term results and their effects on renal function, especially in persons with diabetes are not fully understood. Further research is requested [72,117].

The reported intake of total fat in our cohort was similar to results observed in the NVS II and the BGS. It exceeded the recommended upper-limit of 30% of total daily energy intake (men: 34% in BGS vs. 36% in NVS II vs. 35% in LUPS; women: 34% in BGS vs. 35% in NVS II vs. 35% in LUPS). Moreover the reported consumption of saturated fatty acids (SFA) in our study was comparable to the results of previous German surveys. It was lying above the recommended upper-limit of 10% total energy intake and higher than the recommendations for people at higher risk for CVD (< 7% of total energy intake). For the reported intake of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) we observed a somehow higher intake than in the NVS II and the BGS. In particular, these results may positively affect lipid levels, total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol as well as lipoprotein composition and insulin sensitivity. In contrast to male individuals, the reported intake of MUFA in elderly female individuals was higher. We can only assume that the increase of MUFA content in the diet can be attributed to a higher considering for beneficial vegetable oils, particular of olive and rapeseed oil, especially in female individuals. Polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) intake in our study was similar to that determined in national nutrition surveys in 1998 and 2006. Despite of the recommendation of the German Society of Nutrition to consume at least one portion oily fish a week and one portion of nuts a day to raise the intake of n-3 FA, the recommended amount of 6 - 10 E% PUFA per day was not met. This was also continued by the results that pollack and tuna were the most consumed kinds of fish within the cohort whereas oily fish like herring or mackerel were only consumed by 25% and 11% of the study participants. The reported intake of nuts and seeds, however, seemed to be too low to have an impact on n-3 fatty acid intake.

In general, the intake of dietary cholesterol was within the recommended 300 mg per day. However, in contrast to the last nationwide nutritional survey the dietary cholesterol (mg/1000kcal) intake in our cohort was increased (men: 150 mg/1000kcal in BGS vs. 146 mg/1000kcal in NVS II vs. 168 mg/1000kcal in LUPS; women: 156 mg/1000kcal in BGS vs. 136 mg/1000kcal in NVS II vs. 152 mg/1000kcal in LUPS). This increase was in line to the increased intake of protein and can be attributed to the higher consumption of animal products like eggs, meat, sausages as well as milk and dairy products. Reduction of the dietary cholesterol intake may help to maintain normal blood cholesterol levels. In the higher age groups the reported intakes of protein, total fat and cholesterol were lower in male and higher in female study participants. This may be attributable to a higher intake of animal products in women and lower intakes of these foods in men. Male individuals of the study reported lower consumptions of meat, meat products, chocolate and fast food with higher age.

In contrast, women showed a nearly constant consumption of meat, meat products and chocolate but a lower consumption of fast food. In both genders the intake of fish, nuts and seeds was higher in higher age. A different consumption between men and women at the higher age groups was reported for oil (+9% for women and -12% for men). Thereby, the intake of MUFA was increased in women.

The estimation of alcohol consumption within a dietary assessment is often critical [118]. Two studies estimating the alcohol intake with two different assessment methods showed that underreporting increased with increasing alcohol intake [80,81]. In our cohort, men consumed less alcohol (6.5 g/d vs. 9 – 11.5 g/d) and women consumed more alcohol (3.5 g/d vs. 2 - 2.4 g/d) compared to former studies in the German population [65,66]. To compare the reported daily alcohol consumption of individuals in our cohort with data from the NVS 2006 and the BGS 1998 we calculated the proportion of alcohol (1g alcohol = 7kcal) of daily energy intake. Male study participants reported similar intakes compared to the surveys from 1998 and 2006 (men: 1.8% in BGS vs. 1.5% in NVS II vs. 1.6% in LUPS). However, our female study participants reported three fold higher intakes than the female individuals of the BGS and the NVS II (women: 0.5% in BGS vs. 0.4% in NVS II vs. 1.7% in LUPS). On average, the reported alcohol intakes were lower than the recommended upper limits for daily intakes in male and female individuals. Underreporting of alcohol intakes no increased risk for cardiovascular disease has been reported in recent literature [12].

The assessed salt intake of 3.3 and 2.6 g/d for male and female individuals of the cohort was below the recommended level of the DGE. The observed results were also lower than the results from the last national nutrition survey in Germany (8.0 g/d for men; 6.0 g/d for women). Salt intake in most western countries is estimated to reach 10 g/d and more [82]. Because of possible detrimental effects of high salt intake on blood pressure, left ventricular mass, arterial stiffness and renal function a worldwide reduction of salt to 5 g/d is proposed to reduce blood pressure in patients with and without hypertension and concomitant risk for cardiovascular disease and stroke [82-84,119].

5.1.3. Intake of foods and food groups

The consumption of carbohydrate rich foods in our study participants was lower than shown by the NVS II and the BGS (men: 420 g/d in BGS vs. 357 g/d in NVS II vs. 260 g/d in LUPS; women: 315 g/d in BGS vs. 279 g/d in NVS II vs. 211 g/d in LUPS). Regarding the FFQ items contributing to the group of carbohydrate rich foods (except for bread and rolls) the consumption was 10 - 30% lower than the recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition, but similar to intakes assessed within the NVS II (men: 177 g/d in NVS II vs. 180 g/d in LUPS; women: 144 g/d in NVS II vs. 139 g/d in LUPS). In

contrast, the consumption of bread and rolls was 2.5 - 2.7 times lower than in the NVS II (men: 180 g/d in NVS II vs. 70 g/d in LUPS; women: 134 g/d in NVS II vs. 49 g/d in LUPS). The consumption of pastries and fast food, classified as sweet and solid baked goods within the NVS II were comparable or slightly higher in our cohort (men: 46 g/d in NVS II vs. 49 g/d in LUPS; women: 33 g/d in NVS II vs. 36 g/d in LUPS). The lowest consumption of fast food was reported in the oldest group of men and women, which was also demonstrated by the results of the NVS II [65] and may reflect that older people did not adapt to the dietary habit of consuming fast food. The reduced consumption of bread may be influenced by recent studies demonstrating a potential benefit of diets low in carbohydrates [16,120]. However, most of the studies investigated only effects of the amount of carbohydrates rather than the quality of the carbohydrates. Results from previous studies reported significant improvements of weight loss, lipid profile and systolic blood pressure favouring low-carbohydrate diets, but recent German carbohydrate guidelines summarized no long-term benefits for low or very low carbohydrate intake [16,75,76,115,116,120]. More detailed results, investigating the source of carbohydrates diets rich in wholegrain products, fruits and vegetables and low in refined grains, pastries, added sugar and sugar sweetened beverages were shown to reduce the risk for elevated serum lipids, obesity (BMI and waist), hypertension, the MetS, CHD and T2D [14,17,19,70,82,87,121]. Similar to the results of men and women of the NVS II and the BGS our study participants also did not reach the recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition to consume 400g vegetables a day (men: 241 g/d in BGS vs. 222 g/d in NVS II vs. 164 g/d in LUPS; women: 246 g/d in BGS vs. 243 g/d in NVS II vs. 205 g/d in LUPS). While, women have reached about 50%, men reached only 40% of the recommended intake. Higher vegetable intake observed in male and female individuals with increasing age, was also reported in the results of the NVS II and the British Diet and Nutrition Survey [65,122]. It is remaining unclear whether this fact can be attributed to an increasing health consciousness in older study participants. Our results are not confirming the trend of increased fruit intake seen in the NVS 2006 compared to the BGS (men 180g/d in BGS vs. 230 g/d in NVS II vs. 109 g/d in LUPS; women: 206 g/d in BGS vs. 278 g/d in NVS II vs. 151 g/d in LUPS). However, a higher consumption of fruits in men and women at higher age reported in the NVS II could also be seen in our results. The overall higher consumption of fruits and vegetables in women shown in our study described typical dietary patterns for men and women which were also observed in previous nutrition surveys in Germany and Great Britain [65,66,122]. In other European countries the intake of fruits and vegetables varies among men and women [123]. Several studies have documented beneficial effects of an adequate fruit and vegetable consumption on obesity, hypertension, the MetS, cardiovascular and coronary heart disease, diabetes and cancer [77,124-128]. Despite these benefits, people (also in other countries) [129,130], evidently have difficulties to follow the recommendations. Many factors like age, sex, socioeconomic status, health behaviour and health

awareness contribute to the fruit and vegetables intake [123,131]. Our present study shows that women at higher age consumed more fruits and vegetables than younger men and women. Therefore women of higher age are supposed to have higher intakes of fibres, vitamins, minerals and micronutrients like plant sterols, which are thought to be beneficial for their health condition.

To compare our results based on fat intake to the results of the NVS II we classified butter and margarine as spreadable fats. The daily intake reported by our cohort was below the recommended limits and the consumption within the NVS II (men: 29 g/d in NVS II vs. 8 g/d in LUPS; women 20 g/d in NVS II vs. 5.7 g/d in LUPS). Thereby, in both genders the intake of margarine was slightly higher than the intake of butter. Regarding to the fact that fats are used for the preparation of meals (roasting, for sauces, vegetable tossed in butter etc.) this was not explicitly assessed within the present study, spreadable fat was only evaluated for the use on bread and rolls. The relatively low reported intake of spreadable fat is in accordance with the low bread consumption in the cohort. Assuming that one teaspoon of spreadable fat (=5g) is commonly estimated for one slice of bread, women consumed 1 slice of bread and men 1 ½ slice of bread which reflects the reported consumption for bread and rolls of our study participants. The low reported amount of spreadable fats may be attributable to difficulties in estimating the realistic portion size or having forgotten to report the consumption of these fats. The use of oils for preparing dishes in our cohort could not be compared to the NVS II since this was not evaluated in the national nutrition survey of 2006. To receive more information about oils which were used for cooking or preparing dishes we asked the study participants to report the kind of oil used on a regular basis. The highly preferred oils, in particular olive oil, rapeseed oil and sunflower oil do have a fatty acid pattern which might positively influence serum lipids and lipoproteins providing beneficial unsaturated fatty acids, particularly MUFAs [69,70]. The higher intakes of oils observed in women may be due to the circumstance that women usually are more frequently preparing dishes and possibly have a higher awareness of the favourably oils.

In comparison with the national nutrition surveys the consumption of milk, dairy products and cheese in our cohort was lower (men: 223 g/d in BGS vs. 265 g/d in NVS II vs. 164 g/d in LUPS; women: 225 g/d in BGS vs. 244 g/d in NVS II vs. 173 g/d in LUPS). Male and female study participants of our cohort only reached an intake of 60 – 70% of that assessed in the NVS II. Dairy products provide several nutrients and as whole-fat variations possibly undesirable quantities of SFA and trans FA. Despite the fact that recent publications found no negative associations of dairy products with cardiovascular disease [131] most studies reported detrimental effects of their saturated fatty acid content with atherosclerosis and therefore it is recommended to prefer more low-fat dairy products [133,134]. Our results did show that women preferably consume more low-fat dairy products than men. Accordingly the consumption of whole-fat cheese did not differ between men and women.

60

Both genders of the LUPS cohort reported a higher consumption of meat, meat products and sausages than recommended by the German Society of Nutrition. This was shown in the BGS and the NVS II and also confirmed by the data presented here (men: 201 g/d in BGS vs. 160 g/d in NVS II vs.168 g/d in LUPS; women: 126 g/d in BGS vs. 84 g/d in NVS II vs. 106 g/d in LUPS). The consumption of meat was remarkable decreased between the BGS in 1998 and the NVS II 2006 [65,66]. Researcher presumed this decrease resulting from recent food scandals within 2005 to 2006 and as a result of increasing prices for meat and meat products [135]. Compared to the data of the NVS II our results showed on average a raise by 20g per day in women whereas in men the intake remained mostly constant. However, overall male study participants consumed meat and meat products twice as much as recommended. The amount of low-fat white meat as percentage of total meat consumption was 67% in men and 59% in women. Because of high portions of total fat, especially SFA and cholesterol contained in meat and meat products diets rich in these products may be associated with weight gain, an increasing LDL cholesterol, insulin resistance and detrimental glucose tolerance [132,136,137], and therefore with an increased risk for cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke. Regarding to the intake of SFA and trans FA it has to be considered that not only red and processed meat but also whole-fat dairy products, eggs, spreadable fats, fast food and sweets deliver these kinds of fats.

The reported consumption of eggs in our cohort was within the recommendation of 1 - 2 eggs a week. The consumption of eggs was lower in our study participants than assessed in the NVS 2006 (men: 21 g/d in NVS II vs. 16.3 g/d in LUPS; women: 16 g/d in NVS II vs. 13.6 g/d in LUPS). While the consumption of milk and dairy products, spreadable fats and eggs were within the recommendations, the food groups of meat and meat products, sweets and particularly fast foods may belong to the food group which particularly leads to undesirable high total fat, SFA and trans-FA intake.

The positive change to a higher consumption of fish observed within the NVS II compared with the BGS was also seen in our study. Both, men and women met the recommendation of 1 - 2 portions or 150 - 200g fish a week and were in a similar intake range to the consumption assessed within the NVS 2006 (men: 21 g/d in BGS vs. 29 g/d in NVS II vs. 27 g/d in LUPS; women: 17 g/d in BGS vs. 23 g/d in NVS II vs. 25 g/d in LUPS). Similar to the data of the national nutrition survey, the higher intake of fish at higher age was confirmed by the results of our study participants. Because of the supposed beneficial effects of oily fish on lipid patterns we asked the study participants to specify the kind of fish preferably consumed [15,86]. The majority of males consumed low-fat fish like pollack and tuna and only 10 - 30% consumed oily fish like herring or mackerel. Female study participants consumed primarily low-fat fish and only 9 - 18% reported the consumption of oily fish. However, at higher age male and female study participants were more likely to consume oily fish. Eventually, older

individuals tried to increase their intake of biological high-grade and easily digestible protein as well as their intake of n-3 FA and preferred fish in exchange for meat. The observed higher intake of fish in participants from Hamburg of the NVS II compared to the entire NVS II cohort (men: 34 g/d in NVS II for Hamburg vs. 29 g/d in NVS II vs. 27 g/d in LUPS; women: 31 g/d in NVS II for Hamburg vs. 23 g/d in NVS II vs. 25 g/d in LUPS) could not be confirmed within our data.

Soups and stews are typical traditional and popular foods in Germany. In contrast to the results of the national nutrition survey the intake of soups and stews was considerably lower in both, male and female study participants. For soups we did not observe a larger consumption with higher age, but the consumption of stews was larger at higher age, in both genders.

The reported intake of sweets in our cohort was similar to intakes at the BGS and the NVS II (men: 50 g/d in BGS vs. 55 g/d in NVS II vs. 46 g/d in LUPS; women: 41 g/d in BGS vs. 48 g/d in NVS II vs. 48 g/d in LUPS). The intakes of men and women corresponded to the intake of half a chocolate bar, one piece of cake or one scoop of ice cream and therefore conformed to the recommendation not to exceed 1 portion energy-dense food like sweets a day. In general, the intake of sweets was lower with increasing age comparable to the data of the NVS II. However, the intake of sweet spreads was higher and the intake of chocolate lower at higher age, which was also seen in the NVS II [65]. This could be due to a more traditional breakfast in older individuals with the use of jam and honey on bread or rolls.

Salty snacks were classified to the group of energy-dense foods, because of their high fat and salt content. This food group included potato chips, peanut puffs, salted nuts, popcorn and other salty snacks. The assessed amount of salty snacks within the cohort was nearly 6 - 10times higher than in the national nutrition survey 2006 (men: 8g/d in NVS II vs. 48 g/d in LUPS; women: 5 g/d in NVS II vs. 48 g/d in LUPS). The majority (> 90%) of the salty snacks were reported via the individual filled out questions of the FFQ85. Summarizing the food groups of salty snacks and sweets to a group of energy-dense foods the consumption was twice as much as recommended. The large amount of energy, fat and sugar provided by this food group can be hazardous. Regarding to positive associations like the risk of obesity, raised triglycerides, increased BMI, MetS, CVD and all-cause mortality the consumption of this food group should be reduced [13,18,20-23,85,89].

An intake of more than 1.5 L of energy-free beverages for male and female study participants per day is recommended. Intakes of at minimum 1.5 L energy-free beverages were reported within all age groups. Similar to the results from the NVS II water, coffee and tea provided the greatest quantities of the total beverage consumption. Intakes of fruit and vegetable juices were similar to the quantities assessed within the NVS II, however our female study participants reported a higher fruit juice consumption than in the NVS II (232 ml/d in NVS II vs. 275 ml/d in LUPS). According to the German Society of Nutrition one cup (about 200 ml) of fruit juice a day is acceptable. The intake of soft drinks

reported by female study participants was lower than in male study participants. Regarding to total amount of consumed soft drinks in the actual cohort, females preferably consumed light soft drinks compared to males (67% vs. 43%). A higher intake of energy-free beverages and a lower intake of high-energy beverages and fruit juice go in line with the recommendations of several nutrition societies. High-energy beverages (only consumed by 3 – 7% of the study participants), especially so called sugar-sweetened beverages may promote a high intake of non-saturating calories thereby increasing the risk of obesity and the MetS, in particular children and adolescents [19,87-89].

Compared to data of the BGS 1998 and NVS 2006 the LUPS cohort reported less intake of alcoholic drinks (men: 346 ml/d in BGS vs. 308 ml/d in NVS II vs. 134 ml/d in LUPS; women: 76 ml/d in BGS vs. 81 ml/d in NVS II vs. 52 ml/d in LUPS). However we can confirm typical gender specific drinking patterns like a four-time higher consumption of beer in male study participants. Beer was the most common alcoholic beverage in men (81%), whereas women reported an almost half and half alcohol intake of beer (48%) and wine (50%). The reported quantities of spirits were low in both genders. One reason for this remarkable difference of the overall reported alcohol intake in particular male study participants of the BGS and NVS II compared to male individuals of our study might be found in different methods of reporting. Participants may have had difficulties to assign their individual consumption quantities to the mentioned portion size and therefore may have underestimated their intake. Due to the fact that the examination took place on site the study participants might have been extremely cautious to report their real alcohol intake, in face of medical confidentiality.

In summary, reported dietary patterns among individuals of the NVS II and of our study are quite similar to many aspects. Comparing the patterns assessed via LUPS and NVS II for male individuals, differences can be seen at most in the consumption of meat and meat products. The five mostly consumed food groups in men of the NVS II were carbohydrate rich foods, milk and milk products, fruits, vegetables and meat and meat products, whereas the ranking in our study was carbohydrate rich foods, meat and meat products, milk, vegetables and fruits. The lower intake of meat and meat products within the NVS II was supposed by the investigators to some food scandals within the assessment interval of the NVS II between years 2005 – 2006 [65].

The five mostly consumed food groups for females within the NVS II were carbohydrate rich foods, fruits, milk, vegetables and meat and meat products, whereas female study participants of the LUPS cohort showed the following ranking of food consumption carbohydrate rich foods, vegetables, milk, fruits, meat and meat products. The results reported in our study show a typical different dietary pattern for men and women. The higher consumption of meat and meat products reported in the LUPS cohort compared to the NVS cohort could be attributed to food scandals but also to some characteristics of the study population like educational and socioeconomic status. The different intake of fruits and vegetables may also be due to seasonal differences within the dietary assessment

intervals between the LUPS and the NVS II cohort. Intake patterns may also represent individual health consciousness and the intention to limit calorie intake, especially in female study participants. Over-reporting of healthy food like fruits and vegetables is going in line with a higher social desirability and is profound to avoid [105].

5.1.4. Intake of supplements, sweeteners and dietetic food

Vitamin and mineral supplements are commonly used in Germany. The NVS survey has shown that 31% of men and 24% of women regularly use vitamin or mineral supplements [65]. In the LUPS cohort 25% of men and 33% of women reported to take mineral supplements, 13% of men and 16% of women reported the use of vitamin supplements and 10% of men and 13% of women the use of poly supplements. Compared to NVS II data we found that women were more likely to use supplements, going almost in line with other studies [138-145]. Cross-sectional studies have suggested that increased age is associated with supplement use [138-144]. Our study suggests that females aged 51-60 years were more likely to use mineral and vitamin supplements compared to the other age groups. In contrast, for male individuals no association with higher age was observed. One reason for less supplement use in male study participants might be a less educational level of the majority of the mainly manual workers in the study and therefore less likely to use supplements compared to results of other studies [138-144,147]. Some studies demonstrated an inverse association between supplement use and BMI and alcohol intake and a positive association between physical activity and supplement use [138,140,146,147]. In our cohort we measured a higher BMI (27 kg/m² vs. 25 kg/m²) and higher alcohol intakes (7 g/d vs. 4 g/d) in men compared to women and therefore we could assume that men were more likely to use less supplements. In addition, our female participants reported to be more physical active than males, assuming a higher health consciousness accompanied by a higher use of supplements. In terms of smoking, the literature shows inconsistent associations to supplement use [138,140,146-149]. Several studies suggest that the consumption of supplements is more frequently in former and never smokers. For males and females of our study no clear associations for smoking and supplement use could be seen. Li et al. reported that regular supplement users consumed more fruits, fish, vegetables and dairy products and less total meat [139,147,150,151] than non-users. This could be confirmed by results of females of our cohort who reported higher intakes of fruits, vegetables, dairy products and less meat, suggesting that supplement users, in particular female individuals, seem to have healthier dietary patterns than non-supplement users like men.

Artificial sweeteners (non-nutritive sweeteners) were regularly consumed by a certain percentage of our cohort. Whereas 15% of the US population uses artificial sweeteners, 16% of male and 21% of female study participants of the LUPS cohort reported to use sweeteners [152]. Commonly used artificial sweeteners were cyclamate, aspartame, acesulfame-K, neotame, saccharin, sucralose and

stevia. The taste of sweetness is 30 up to 8000 times higher in artificial sweeteners than is in sugar. Women sometimes are more likely to consume energy-balanced diets and thereby use artificial sweeteners. Further research has to be done in particular randomized clinical trials to better understand currently discussed potential side effects of artificial sweeteners like influencing the body weight, appetite and energy balance [152-154].

An energy-balanced diet, especially the use of low-fat dairy products and low-fat meat and sausages is recommended by all nutrition guidelines as part of a healthy lifestyle and to positively influence the incidence and course of diseases like hypertension, the MetS, diabetes and arteriosclerotic complications [12,14,62-64]. According to the higher consumption of low caloric food in female participants we do suppose women are compared to men more likely to be health conscious.

The interpretation of the above mentioned research results needs to implicate some limitations of our study. At present we report only age-adjusted values of male and female study participants for the nutritional intake, but did not control yet for presumed confounders like body mass index, education status or other lifestyle features [106,107,155,156]. We are not supposed to generalize our findings to the total German population, since our cohort included solely individuals, predominantly male, who are employed by the Lufthansa Technik in Hamburg, Germany. However, we have recruited participants from all departments, e.g. technicians, pilots and financial managers of the company, representing a broad range of dietary habits from working individuals.

6. Concluding Remarks

This study investigated self-administered dietary patterns of a healthy worker cohort, employed at a German company, aged between 25-60 years. The analyses based on nutritional and clinical data assessed in the Lipid and Glucose under Prospective Surveillance Study (LUPS), in which 1.962 healthy employees of the Lufthansa Technik GmbH Hamburg were enrolled to determine risk parameters of the metabolic syndrome and their components. Moreover, the relation of this prevalence for the predisposition to develop early changes in lipid and glucose metabolism should be investigated.

The results obtained in this study are raw data from the baseline examination, adjusted for age and stratified for gender. Adjustment of nutritional intake to several potential confounders influencing diet-disease relations will be done [81,107,138], however this first descriptive examination primarily shows nutritional intake and dietary patterns without examining associations to potential confounders like smoking or physical activity.

The present study showed a significantly higher carbohydrate and dietary fibre intake in women than in men and a significantly higher dietary fibre intake with increasing age. The intake of protein was in line with the recommended range of 10 - 20% of total energy intake and showed a higher intake in women and a lower intake in men at higher age. Except for monounsaturated fatty acids, the intakes of fatty acids did not meet the recommendations of the German Society of Nutrition. Compared to the youngest age group in men and women the intake of total fat and monounsaturated fatty acids were lower in men and higher in women at the higher age group. The intakes of dietary cholesterol, alcohol and salt on average were in the recommended ranges.

In men and women the daily consumption of carbohydrate rich foods, vegetables, milk and dairy products, fats and fruits were below the recommendations. Daily intakes of non-alcoholic and alcoholic beverages, fish and eggs met the recommendations for men and women, whereas the consumption of meat and meat products and energy-dense foods (sweets and salty snacks) exceeded the recommended amounts, particularly in men. It has been reported in the literature that some foods and nutrients were associated with the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome or its components [17-19,67,76,87,120,121]. Overall, a "healthy" dietary pattern which includes whole grains, fibre, fruits, vegetables, legumes, fish, poultry, nuts, seeds, and oil compared to a "Western" dietary pattern which is characterized by meat, meat products, whole-fat dairy products, sweets, baked goods, fast food, French fries and soft drinks was associated with a lower incidence and prevalence of the metabolic syndrome, its components and secondary diseases [13,15,20-23,87,98]. In our study female participants, primarily women of higher age preferred greater amounts and more

frequently foods contributing to a "healthy" dietary pattern compared to men. Although men do not reach the degree of a healthy dietary pattern assessed for women the consumption of less desirable foods like meat, meat products, fast food, French fries and soft drinks was decreased and the intake of fruits and vegetables was increased with higher age. Evidently there was a raising awareness for a more desirable dietary pattern, particularly among women of higher age. The following recommendations, which are similar to the actual Guidelines of the Nutrition Associations [11,12,62-64] based on the reported food and food group intakes of our cohort could be taken:

- 1. Increase vegetable and fruit intake
- 2. Increase whole grain intake by replacing refined grains with wholemeal variations
- 3. Reduce intake of animal products as meat and meat products
- 4. Replace whole-fat products by low-fat variations, especially in meat and dairy products
- 5. Reduce intake of sugar sweetened beverages
- 6. Use oils to replace solid fats, if possible
- 7. Reduce intake of fast food

As the increasing prevalence of nutrition-depending diseases like obesity, hypertension, dyslipidaemia, the MetS, T2D and CVD increases burden to the affected population and raises the costs for the health system, more focus should be given to the awareness for a healthy diet starting at young age with special advice to male individuals. Individuals with metabolic disorders should receive professional nutritional advice and learn to shift their usual dietary pattern to healthier alternatives.

Prospectively, associations between the reported nutritional intakes and risk factors of the metabolic syndrome should be examined. Thereby, effects of possible confounders, which are also assumed to influence the incidence and prevalence of the MetS, should be calculated. Furthermore, prospective examinations of the nutritional intake of our cohort should be assessed to investigate longitudinal changes of the dietary habits.
7. Summary

Background: The rising prevalence of the metabolic syndrome implicates a high risk of developing diabetes mellitus type 2, cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality. In healthy individuals and people at risk, modifications of lifestyle mainly based on nutritional recommendations are the most effective interventions in preventing or treating metabolic disturbances and its secondary diseases. Therefore, actual information on dietary habits, particularly of individuals at increased risk for developing the MetS is needed to plan prevention programs or providing individual nutritional advice.

Objectives: Aim of this study was to describe the habitual nutritional intake and dietary patterns of 1.887 employees of a German company enrolled in the Lipid and Glucose under Prospective Surveillance (LUPS) study. Reported energy, nutrient and food intake in female and male individuals and different age groups were assessed in a baseline cross-sectional analysis using a standardized semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire. Furthermore reported nutritional intakes are compared to current nutritional recommendations for the general population to prevent metabolic disorders.

Methods: The LUPS project was established to assess putative risk factors of the MetS in healthy individuals and to examine relations between these risk factors and early disturbances in the lipid and glucose metabolism. Of the 1.962 individuals aged 25 - 60 years recruited between November 2008 and June 2010 and 75 individuals were excluded from the analysis because of either having already the diagnosis of diabetes or due to missing data. Overall, 1.274 male and 613 female study participants were included in the nutritional analysis. The mean age of the female and male study participants was 42 \pm 9 years. Prior to the baseline examination visit all study participants had to fill in a comprehensive dietary questionnaire, NARI (nutritional intake in risk groups) [90]. Nutritional intake was assessed from a standardized 85-item self-administered semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ85) and 17 additional questions asking for the use of supplements and dietetic foods as well as for details on foods which may specifically influence the lipid and glucose metabolism. All questionnaires were checked for completeness and plausibility by trained nutritionists. Energy and nutrient intakes (g/d and % of total energy intake) were calculated, based on the reported frequency of food intakes multiplied with the recorded portion sizes small, medium, large using predefined food codes based on the Bundeslebensmittelschlüssel (BLS) [91] and the computer software program PRODI[®] [92].

Age adjusted mean daily energy and nutrient intakes with 95% CI were calculated stratified by gender. In men and women the consumption was compared between 3 age groups to examine potential differences between age groups. The patterns of food and food group intakes in men and women (daily amounts and the frequency of intake) were also assessed in 3 groups (Age: 5th Percentile, Median, 95th Percentile). To describe the habitual use of supplements, artificial sweeteners, sugar substitutes, dietetic foods and low-calorie foods the proportion of male and female users was calculated. No adjustment was made for potential confounders such as BMI, smoking habits, socioeconomic status or physical activity.

Results: Compared to females male study participants reported significantly higher intakes of unfavourable food like refined grains, baked goods, fast food, meat and meat products and lower intakes of more desirable food like fruits, vegetables, oils, low-fat dairy products and energy-free beverages. They reported higher intakes of total fat, saturated fatty acids and dietary cholesterol and lower intakes of dietary fibre and carbohydrates. In the highest age group the consumption of meat, eggs, chocolate, whole-fat milk products, salty snacks, fast food, sugar, French fries, refined grain products, hot chocolate, fruit juice and sugar sweetened beverages was at the lowest and the consumption of fish, fruits, cooked and raw vegetables, nuts and seeds, wholemeal bread and rolls and tea was at highest levels compared to the youngest age group. Typical traditional foods in Germany like potatoes, stews, jam and honey and coffee were more often consumed by individuals in the oldest age group. Women at higher age were more likely to consume oils compared to younger women. Particularly in men, reported intakes of total fat, saturated fat, monounsaturated fat and dietary cholesterol were lower and the intake of dietary fibre and carbohydrates were higher at older age. For women, except for monounsaturated fatty acids which were consumed to larger amounts in the elderly, only small differences were observed between the age groups. Overall reported use of dietary supplements (mineral and poly), artificial sweeteners, sugar substitutes, dietetic foods and low-calorie foods was higher in women than in men. Thereby, dietary supplements were more likely consumed at higher age, especially in female study participants.

Conclusions: The study shows the first examination of nutritional intake and dietary patterns in a healthy worker cohort assessed by a food frequency questionnaire. Significant differences of energy, nutrient and food intakes between men and women were assessed with a more favourable pattern for women. Further, a higher consumption of more desirable food in the elderly was reported. In future studies, early nutrient-related changes of lipid and glucose metabolism and associations between nutritional intake and/ or dietary patterns and the risk to develop the MetS should be investigated.

69

7. Zusammenfassung

Hintergrund: Die stetig steigende Prävalenz des Metabolischen Syndroms geht mit einem erhöhten Risiko für Diabetes mellitus Typ 2 und kardiovaskulären Krankheiten einher, was die Gesamtmortalität erhöhen kann. Sowohl für gesunde Menschen, als auch für Personen mit einem erhöhten Risiko, ist eine Veränderung des Lebensstils v.a. eine Umstellung der Ernährungsgewohnheiten basierend auf den Ernährungsempfehlungen der Fachgesellschaften, die effektivste Methode, Stoffwechselstörungen und deren Begleiterkrankungen vorzubeugen und therapeutisch zu unterstützen. Um zielgruppenorientierte Präventionsmaßnahmen zu planen oder um Patienten eine individuelle Ernährungsberatung zu ermöglichen, müssen jedoch zunächst genaue Informationen über die Ernährungsgewohnheiten der Bevölkerung bekannt sein.

Ziele: Ziel dieser Studie war es, die reguläre Nahrungsaufnahme und die Ernährungsmuster von 1.887 Mitarbeitern einer deutschen Firma, die in die Lipid and Glucose under Prospective Surveillance (LUPS) Studie eingeschlossen wurden, zu beschreiben. Dies erfolgte mit Hilfe eines standardisierten semiquantitativen Verzehrshäufigkeitenfragebogens. Die Energie- und Nährstoffaufnahme sowie die Lebensmittelverzehrsmengen wurden mit Hilfe der ermittelten Basisdaten getrennt für Männer und Frauen sowie für verschiedene Altersgruppen erfasst und analysiert. Außerdem wurde die erhobene Nahrungsaufnahme der männlichen und weiblichen Studienteilnehmer mit den Ernährungsempfehlungen der Allgemeinbevölkerung zur Prävention ernährungsmitbedingter Krankheiten verglichen.

Methodik: Die LUPS Studie wurde durchgeführt, um potentielle Risikofaktoren des Metabolischen Syndroms in der Bevölkerung zu identifizieren und um Zusammenhänge zwischen diesen Risikofaktoren und frühen Veränderungen im Fett- und Glukosestoffwechsel ausfindig zu machen. Zwischen November 2008 und Juni 2010, wurden 1.962 Studienteilnehmer im Alter zwischen 25 und 60 Jahren rekrutiert. Von diesen wurden 1.274 männliche und 613 weibliche Teilnehmer in die Auswertungen der Nahrungsaufnahme eingeschlossen. Die verbleibenden 75 Teilnehmer wurden auf Grund eines bereits bekannten Diabetes mellitus Typ 2 oder fehlender Werte im Verzehrshäufigkeitenfragebogen von der Berechnung ausgeschlossen. Das mittlere Alter der Studienteilnehmer lag bei 42 \pm 9 Jahre. Vor Ihrer Basisuntersuchung mussten alle Probanden einen umfangreichen Verzehrshäufigkeitenfragebogen, NARI (*Nutritional intake in risk groups*) ausfüllen [90]. Der Fragebogen umfasst 85 Fragen (FFQ85) zur Häufigkeit des Verzehrs und Portionsgrößen von Lebensmitteln und Lebensmittelgruppen, die jeder Proband selbstständig ausfüllen muss. Weitere 17 Fragen wurden dazu verwendet, die Einnahme von Nahrungsergänzungsmitteln, diätetischen Lebensmitteln, Süßstoffen und weiteren speziellen Lebensmitteln, die möglicherweise Einfluss auf den Fett- und Glukosestoffwechsel haben, zu erfassen. Nach Abgabe wurde jeder Fragebogen von geschulten Ernährungswissenschaftlern auf Vollständigkeit und Plausibilität überprüft. Basierend auf der angegebenen Portionsgröße und Verzehrshäufigkeit wurden mit Hilfe vordefinierter Lebensmittelcodes, welche aus dem Bundeslebensmittelschlüssel (BLS) [91] abgeleitet wurden und der Ernährungssoftware PRODI[®] [92], die aufgenommenen Energie und Nährstoffwerte berechnet. Die Auswertung der vorliegenden Daten erfolgte adjustiert für das mittlere Alter der männlichen und weiblichen Studienteilnehmer. Die täglichen Energie- und Nährstoffaufnahmen (g/d und als % der Gesamtenergiezufuhr) wurden als arithmetisches Mittel mit den 95% Konfidenzintervallen getrennt für Männer und Frauen berechnet. Um Unterschiede der Nahrungsaufnahme in den verschiedenen Altersgruppen zu erkennen, wurde diese jeweils für Männer und Frauen getrennt für 3 Altersgruppen berechnet. Die Beschreibung des Verzehrs der einzelnen Lebensmittel sowie der Lebensmittelgruppen erfolgte durch Berechnung der täglichen Verzehrsmengen sowie der Verzehrshäufigkeit. Diese Verzehrsmengen wurden ebenfalls getrennt für Männer und Frauen und für 3 Altersgruppen beschrieben (Altersgruppen: 5th Perzentile, Median, 95th Perzentile). Die tägliche Einnahme bzw. das Nutzen von Nahrungsergänzungsmitteln, Süßstoffen, Zuckeraustauschstoffen, diätetischen Lebensmitteln, "light" Produkten und Lebensmittel, die möglicherweise den Fett- und Glukosestoffwechsel beeinflussen, wurde als Anteil (n%) der Nutzer zu den Nichtnutzern getrennt für Männer und Frauen beschrieben.

Ergebnisse: Insgesamt verzehrten Männer im Vergleich zu Frauen signifikant größere Mengen "ungesunder" Lebensmittel wie z.B. Weißmehlprodukte, Backwaren, "Fast Food", Fleisch und Wurstwaren und geringere Mengen an protektiven Lebensmittel wie Obst, Gemüse, pflanzlichen Ölen, fettarmen Milchprodukten und energiefreien Getränken. Dementsprechend hatten Männern, auch nach Adjustierung für die Gesamtenergieaufnahme, eine höhere Aufnahme von Gesamtfett, gesättigten Fettsäuren und Cholesterin und eine geringere Aufnahme von Kohlenhydraten und Ballaststoffen. Männer und Frauen in den höheren Altersklassen verzehrten geringe Mengen an Fleisch, Eiern, Schokolade, fettreichen Milchprodukten, salzigen Knabbereien, "Fast Food", Zucker, Pommes, Weißmehlprodukten, heißer Schokolade, Saft und zuckergesüßten Getränken, während die verzehrte Menge protektiver Lebensmittel wie Fisch, Obst, Gemüse, Nüsse, Samen, Vollkornprodukte und Tee bei den älteren Teilnehmern erhöht war. Außerdem war der Verzehr traditioneller deutscher Lebensmittel wie von Kartoffeln, Eintöpfen, Marmeladen und Honig sowie von Kaffee in den höheren Altersklassen höher. Für Frauen in den höheren Altersklassen. Diese Unterschiede der Nahrungsaufnahme spiegelten sich auch in einem unterschiedlichen Nährstoffprofil wider. So war bei den Männern in den höheren Altersklassen die Gesamtfettaufnahme, die Aufnahme gesättigter Fettsäuren, einfachungesättigter Fettsäuren und Cholesterin geringer, während die Aufnahme von Kohlenhydraten und Ballaststoffen im Vergleich zu den jüngeren Teilnehmern höher war. Ausgenommen für einfachungesättigte Fettsäuren, die in den höheren Altersklassen erhöht waren, unterschied sich die Nährstoffaufnahme der Frauen kaum zwischen den drei Altersgruppen. Für die Einnahme von Nahrungsergänzungsmitteln, Süßstoffen, Zuckeraustauschstoffen, diätetischen Lebensmitteln und "light" Produkten zeigte sich eine häufigere Nutzung bei den Frauen als bei den Männern. Dabei war die Einnahme von vor allem Mineralstoffsupplementen und Mischpräparaten bei älteren Studienteilnehmerinnen häufiger als bei den Jüngeren.

Schlussfolgerungen: Diese erste Untersuchung bildet die Nährstoffaufnahme und den Lebensmittelverzehr, erfasst mit einem Verzehrshäufigkeitenfragebogen, einer gesunden Kohorte ab. Für die Energie- und Nährstoffaufnahme sowie den Lebensmittelverzehr wurden signifikante Unterschiede zwischen Männern und Frauen sowie zwischen den Altersgruppen festgestellt. Dabei wiesen Frauen ein günstigeres Ernährungsmuster auf als Männer und ältere Studienteilnehmer verzehrten einen höheren Anteil protektiver Lebensmittel als jüngere. Weitere Untersuchungen, die im zeitlichen Verlauf mögliche Beziehungen zwischen der Lebensmittel- und Nährstoffaufnahme und frühen Veränderungen im Fett- und Glukosestoffwechsel sowie der Entwicklung des Metabolischen Syndroms zeigen, sollten folgen.

8. References

1. Ford ES, Li C, Sattar N. Metabolic syndrome and incident diabetes: current state of the evidence. Diabetes Care 2008; 31(9): 1898-904

2. Mottillo S, Filion KB, Genest J, Joseph L, Pilote L, Poirier P, Rinfret S, Schiffrin EL, Eisenberg MJ. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56(14): 1113-32

3.World Health Organisation. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Report of WHO consultation. 1999 (WHO/NCO/NCS/99.2)

4. Balkau B, Charles MA. Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR) Diabet Med 1999; 16(5):442-3

5. Executive summary of the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel of Detection, Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Jama 2001; 285: 2486-2497

6. Einhorn D, Reaven GM, Cobin RH, Ford E, Ganda OP, Handelsman Y, Hellman R, Jellinger PS, Kendall D, Krauss RM, Neufeld ND, Petak SM, Rodbard HW, Seibel JA, Smith DA, Wilson PW. American College of Endocrinology position statement on the insulin resistance syndrome. Endocr Pract 2003; 9:237–252

7. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, Gordon DJ, Krauss RM, Savage PJ, Smith SC, Jr, Spertus JA, Costa F. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/ National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute scientific Statement. Circulation 2005; 112:2735-2752

8. International Diabetes Federation. Worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome. Available at: http://www.idf.org/webdata/docs/IDF Metasyndrome definition.pdf. Accessed August 24 2005.

9. Loria and Sidney C. Smith, Jr Cleeman, Karen A. Donato, Jean-Charles Fruchart, W. Philip T. James, Catherine M. K.G.M.M. Alberti, Robert H. Eckel, Scott M. Grundy, Paul Z. Zimmet, James I. Harmonizing the Metabolic Syndrome: A Joint Interim Statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 2009; 120: 1640-1645

10. Esposito K, Ciotola M, Giugliano D. Mediterranean diet and the metabolic syndrome. Mol Nutr Food Res 2007; 51(10): 1268-74

11. Mann JI. Nutrition Recommendations for the Treatment and Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes and the Metabolic Syndrome: An Evidenced-Based Review Nutrition Reviews 2006; 64(9): 422–427

12. USDA. Dietary Guidelines for Americans. US Department of Agriculture and Department of Health and Human Services 6th ed. Washington, DC, 2005

13. Mirmiran P, Hekmatdoost A, Azizi F. Metabolic syndrome is associated with adherence to an unhealthy diet. Diabetes Care 2007; 30(9): e93

14. Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Brands M, Carnethon M, Daniels S, Franch HA, Franklin B, Kris-Etherton P, Harris WS, Howard B, Karanja N, Lefevre M, Rudel L, Sacks F, Van Horn L, Winston M, Wylie-Rosett J. Diet and Lifestyle Recommendations Revision 2006 A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. Circulation 2006; 114: 82-96

15. Babio N, Bulló M, Salas-Salvadó J. Mediterranean diet and metabolic syndrome: the evidence. Public Health Nutr 2009; 12(9A): 1607-17

16. Evidence-Based Guideline of the German Nutrition Society: Carbohydrate Intake and Prevention of Nutrition-Related Diseases. Ann Nutr Metab 2012; 60(Suppl. 1): 1-58

17. McKeown NM, Meigs JB, Liu S, Wilson PW, Jacques PF. Whole-grain intake is favorably associated with metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in the Framingham Offspring Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76(2): 390-8

18. Lutsey PL, Steffen LM, Stevens J. Dietary intake and the development of the metabolic syndrome: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Circulation 2008; 117: 754-61

19. Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Després JP, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2010; 33: 2477-83

20. Kastorini CM, Milionis HJ, Esposito K, Giugliano D, Goudevenos JA, Panagiotakos DB. The effect of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome and its components: a meta-analysis of 50 studies and 534,906 individuals. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 57(11): 1299-313

21. Rumawas ME, Meigs JB, Dwyer JT, McKeown NM, Jacques PF. Mediterranean-style dietary pattern, reduced risk of metabolic syndrome traits, and incidence in the Framingham Offspring Cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 2009; 90(6): 1608-14

22. Esmaillzadeh A, Kimiagar M, Mehrabi Y, Azadbakht L, Hu FB, Willett WC. Dietary patterns, insulin resistance, and prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in women. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85(3): 910-8

23. Heidemann C, Schulze MB, Franco OH, van Dam RM, Mantzoros CS, Hu FB. Dietary patterns and risk of mortality from cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all causes in a prospective cohort of women. Circulation 2008; 118(3): 230-7

24. Maranon G. Über Hypertonie und Zuckerkrankheit. Z Inn Med 1922; 43: 169–176

25. Kylin E. Studien über das Hypertonie-Hyperglykaemie-Hyperurikaemie-Syndrom. Z Inn Med 1923; 44: 105–127

26. Vague J.The degree of masculine differentiation of obesities: a factor determining predisposition to diabetes, atherosclerosis, gout, and uric calculous disease. Am J Clin Nutr 1956; 4: 20–27

27. Camus JP. Goutte, diabete, hyperlipemie: un trisyndrome metabolique. Rev Rhum Mal Osteoartic 1966; 33: 10-14

28. Avogaro P, Crepaldi G. Essential hyperlipidemia, obesity and diabetes. First meeting of the Association of the Study of Diabetes. Montecatini (Italy) 1965

29. Jahnke K, Daweke H, Liebermeister H, Schilling WH, Thamer G, Preiss H, Gries FA. Hormonal and metabolic aspects of obesity in humans. In: Östmann J (ed). Diabetes. Proceedings of the sixth congress of the International Diabetes Federation. Excerpta Medica Foundation Amsterdam 1969; 37: 1595-1607

30. Haller H. Epidemiology and associated risk factors of hyperlipoproteinemia. Z Gesamte Inn Med 1977; 32: 124–128

31. Hanefeld M, Leonhardt W. Das metabolische Syndrom. Dt Gesundh Wesen 1981; 36: 545-551

32. Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988; 37: 1595–1607

33. Haffner SM, Valdez RA, Hazuda HP, Mitchell BD, Morales PA, Stern MP. Prospective analysis of the insulin-resistance syndrome (syndrome X). Diabetes 1992; 41: 715–722

34. DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E. Insulin resistance: a multifaceted syndrome responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Diabetes Care 1991; 14: 173–194

35. Bjorntorp P. Abdominal obesity and the development of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Rev 1988; 4: 615–622

36. Boden G, Chen X, Ruiz J, White JV, Rossetti L. Mechanisms of fatty acid-induced inhibition of glucose uptake. J Clin Invest 1994; 93: 2438–2446

37. Festa A, Hanley AJ, Tracy RP, D'Agostino R Jr, Haffner SM. Inflammation in the prediabetic state is related to increased insulin resistance rather than decreased insulin secretion. Circulation 2003; 108: 1822–1830

38. Shanmugam N, Reddy MA, Guha M, Natarajan R. High glucose-induced expression of proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine genes in monocytic cells. Diabetes 2003; 52: 1256–1264

39. Matsuzawa Y, Funahashi, T, Kihara S, Shimomura I. Adiponectin and metabolic syndrome. ArterisclerThromb Vasc Biol 2004 24: 29–33

40. Yudkin JS, Juhan-Vague I, Hawe E, Humphries SE, di Minno G, Margaglione M, Tremoli E, Kooistra T, Morange PE, Lundman P, Mohamed-Ali V, Hamsten A, The HIFMECH Study Group. Low-grade inflammation may play a role in the

etiology of the metabolic syndrome in patients with coronary heart disease: the HIFMECH study. Metabolism 2004; 53: 852–857

41. Ridker PM, Buring JE, Cook NR, Rifai N. C-reactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular events: an 8-year follow-up of 14 719 initially healthy American women. Circulation 2003; 107: 391–397

42. Heiskanen TH, Niskanen LK, Hintikka JJ, Koivumaa-Honkanen HT, Honkalampi KM, Haatainen KM, Viinamäki HT.Metabolic syndrome and depression: a cross-sectional analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 2006; 67: 1422–1427

43. Pitsavos C, Panagiotakos D, Weinem M, Stefanadis C. Diet, exercise and the metabolic syndrome. Rev Diabet Stud 2006; 3(3):118-26

44. Deshmukh-Taskar PR, O'Neil CE, Nicklas TA, Yang SJ, Liu Y, Gustat J, Berenson GS. Dietary patterns associated with metabolic syndrome, sociodemographic and lifestyle factors in young adults: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Public Health Nutr 2009; (12): 2493-503

45. Neuhauser H, Ellert U. Prävalenz des metabolischen Syndroms in Deutschland: eine Sensitivitätsanalyse. 2005. www.egms.de/static/en/meetings/gmds2005/05gmds183.shtml

46. Moebus S, Hanisch J, Bramlage P, Lösch C, Hauner H, Wasem J, Jöckel KH. Regional unterschiedliche Prävalenz des metabolischen Syndroms. Dtsch Arztebl 2008; 105: 207-13

47. Moebus S, Hanisch JU, Aidelsburger P, Bramlage P, Wasem J, Jöckel KH. Impact of 4 different definitions used for the assessment of the prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome in primary healthcare: The German Metabolic and Cardiovascular Risk Project (GEMCAS). Cardiovasc Diabetol 2007; 6:22

48. Schipf S, Alte D, Völzke H, Friedrich N, Haring R, Lohmann T, Rathmann W, Nauck M, Felix SB, Hoffmann W, John U, Wallaschofski H. Prävalenz of Metabolic Syndrome in Germany: Results from the "Study of Health in Pomerania" (SHIP) Diabetologie und Stoffwechsel 2010; 5(3): 161-168

49. Lee WY, Park JS, Noh SY, Rhee EJ, Kim SW, Zimmet PZ. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among 40,698 Korean metropolitan subjects. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice 2004; 65: 143-149

50. Gu D, Reynolds K, Wu X, Chen J, Duan X, Reynolds RF, Whelton PK, He J, Group IASIAC. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and overweight among adults in China. Lancet 2005; 365: 1398-1405

51. Ko GT, Cockram CS, Chow CC, Yeung V, Chan WB, So WY, Chan NN, Chan JC. High prevalence of metabolic syndrome in Hong Kong Chinese - comparison of three diagnostic criteria. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2005; 69:160-168

52. Mancia G, Bombelli M, Corrao G, Facchetti R, Madotto F, Giannattasio C, Trevano FQ, Grassi G, Zanchetti A, Sega R. Metabolic syndrome in the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni (PAMELA) study: daily life blood pressure, cardiac damage, and prognosis. Hypertension 2007; 49:40-47

53. Hillier TA, Rousseau A, Lange C, Lepinay P, Cailleau M, Novak M, Calliez E, Ducimetiere P, Balkau B. Practical way to assess metabolic syndrome using a continuous score obtained from principal components analysis : The D.E.S.I.R. Cohort. Diabetologia 2006; 49: 1528-1535

54. Villegas R, Perry IJ, Creagh D, Hinchion R, O'Halloran D. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in middle-aged men and women. Diabetes Care 2003; 26: 3198-3199

55. Al Lawati JA, Mohammed AJ, Al Hinai HQ, Jousilahti P. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome Among Omani Adults. Diabetes Care 2003; 26: 1781-1785

56. Azizi F, Salehi P, Etemadi A, Zahedi-Asl S. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in an urban population: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2003; 61:29-37

57. Lawlor DA, Smith GD, Ebrahim S. Does the new International Diabetes Federation definition of the metabolic syndrome predict CHD any more strongly than older definitions? Findings from the British Women's Heart and Health Study. Diabetologia 2006; 49: 41-48

58. Athyros VG, Bouloukos VI, Pehlivanidis AN, Papageorgiou AA, Dionysopoulou SG, Symeonidis AN, Petridis DI, Kapousouzi MI, Satsoglou EA, Mikhailidis DP. The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in Greece: The MetS-Greece Multicentre Study. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism 2005; 7:397-405

59. Ford ES, Giles WH, Dietz WH. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA 2002; 287: 356-359

60. Ford ES, Giles WH, Mokdad AH. Increasing prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among U.S. adults. Diabetes Care 2004; 27: 2444-2449

61. Mozumdar A, Liguori G. Persistent Increase of Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome Among U.S. Adults: NHANES III to NHANES 1999–2006. Diabetes Care 2011; 34(1): 216-219

62. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung (DGE), Österreichische Gesellschaft für Ernährung (ÖGE), Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ernährung (SVE) . D-A-CH Referenzwerte für die Nährstoffzufuhr. Hrsg. DGE .1. Aufl. Umschau Braus Frankfurt am Main 2000, 3. korr. Nachdruck 2008

63. World Health Organization. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland 2003

64. Mann JI, De Leeuw I, Hermansen K, Karamanos B, Karlström B, Katsilambros N, Riccardi G, Rivellese AA, Rizkalla S, Slama G, Toeller M, Uusitupa M, Vessby B; Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the European Association Evidencebased nutritional approaches to the treatment and prevention of diabetes mellitus. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2004; 14(6): 373-94

65. Bundesforschungsinstitut für Ernährung und Lebensmittel (Hrsg.) (2008) Nationale Verzehrsstudie II.Ergebnisbericht, Teil 2. Karlsruhe, Max Rubner-Institut, Bundesforschungsinstitut für Ernährung und Lebensmittel. [http://www.was-esseich.de/uploads/media/NVSIIErgebnisbericht_Teil2.pdf]

66. Mensink GBM, Thamm M, Haas K. Die Ernährung in Deutschland 1998. Gesundheitswesen 1999; 61 Sonderheft 2: 200-206

67. Xu J, Eilat-Adar S, Loria C, Goldbourt U, Howard BV, Fabsitz RR, Zephier EM, Mattil C, Lee ET. Dietary fat intake and risk of coronary heart disease: the Strong Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 84(4): 894-902

68. Salas-Salvadó J, Bulló M, Babio N, Martínez-González MÁ, Ibarrola-Jurado N, Basora J, Estruch R, Covas MI, Corella D, Arós F, Ruiz-Gutiérrez V, Ros E; PREDIMED Study Investigators. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with the Mediterranean diet: results of the PREDIMED-Reus nutrition intervention randomized trial. Diabetes care 2011; 34(1): 14-9

69. Bjermo H, Iggman D, Kullberg J, Dahlman I, Johansson L, Persson L, Berglund J, Pulkki K, Basu S, Uusitupa M, Rudling M, Arner P, Cederholm T, Ahlström H, Risérus U. Effects of n–6 PUFAs compared with SFAs on liver fat, lipoproteins, and inflammation in abdominal obesity: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2012; 95(5): 1003-12

70. Cernea S, Hâncu N, Raz I. Diet and coronary heart disease in diabetes. Acta Diabetol 2003; 40(Suppl 2): 389-400

71. Noakes M, Keogh JB, Foster PR, Clifton PM. Effect of an energy-restricted, high-protein, low-fat diet relative to a conventional high-carbohydrate, low-fat diet on weight loss, body composition, nutritional status, and markers of cardiovascular health in obese women. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81(6): 1298-306

72. Keogh JB, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Noakes M, Wittert GA, Clifton PM. Long-term weight maintenance and cardiovascular risk factors are not different following weight loss on carbohydrate-restricted diets high in either monounsaturated fat or protein in obese hyperinsulinaemic men and women. Br J Nutr 2007; 97(2): 405-10

73. Bernstein AM, Sun Q, Hu FB, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Willett WC. Major dietary protein sources and risk of coronary heart disease in women. Circulation 2010; 122(9): 876-83

74. Pan A, Sun Q, Bernstein AM, Schulze MB, Manson JE, Willett WC, Hu FB. Red meat consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: 3 cohorts of US adults and an updated meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2011; 94(4): 1088-96

75. Carnethon MR, Loria CM, Hill JO, Sidney S, Savage PJ, Liu K. Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults study. Risk factors for the metabolic syndrome: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study, 1985-2001. Diabetes Care 2004; 27(11): 2707-15

76. Mirmiran P, Noori N, Azizi F. A prospective study of determinants of the metabolic syndrome in adults. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2008; 18: 567-73

77. Liu S, Manson JE, Lee IM, Cole SR, Hennekens CH, Willett WC, Buring JE. Fruit and vegetable intake and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Women's Health Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72(4): 922-8

78. Porikos K, Hagamen S. Is fiber satiating? Effects of a high fiber preload on subsequent food intake of normal-weight and obese young men. Appetite 1986; 7: 153–62

79. Blundell JE, Burley VJ. Satiation, satiety and the action of fibre on food intake. Int J Obes 1987; 11: 9–25

80. Männistö S, Uusitalo K, Roos E, Fogelholm M, Pietinen P. Alcohol beverage drinking, diet and body mass index in a crosssectional survey. Eur J Clin Nutr 1997; 51(5):326-32

81. Ma J, Betts NM, Hampl JS. Clustering of lifestyle behaviors: the relationship between cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and dietary intake. Am J Health Promot 2000; 5(2): 107-17

82. Strazzullo P, D'Elia L, Kandala NB, Cappuccio FP. Salt intake, stroke, and cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of prospective studies. BMJ 2009; 339:b4567

83. He FJ, MacGregor GA. A comprehensive review on salt and health and current experience of worldwide salt reduction programmes. J Hum Hypertens 2009; 23(6): 363-84

84. Suckling RJ, He FJ, Markandu ND, MacGregor GA. Dietary salt influences postprandial plasma sodium concentration and systolic blood pressure. Kidney Int. 2012; 81(4): 407-11

85. Kouki R, Schwab U, Hassinen M, Komulainen P, Heikkilä H, Lakka TA, Rauramaa R. Food consumption, nutrient intake and the risk of having metabolic syndrome: the DR's EXTRA Study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2011; 65(3): 368-77

86. Baik I, Abbott RD, Curb JD, Shin C. Intake of fish and n-3 fatty acids and future risk of metabolic syndrome. J Am Diet Assoc 2010; 110(7): 1018-26

87. Ventura AK, Loken E, Brich LL. Risk profiles for metabolic syndrome in a nonclinical sample of adolescent girls. Pediatrics 2006; 118: 2434-42

88. Bernstein AM, de Koning L, Flint AJ, Rexrode KM, Willett WC. Soda consumption and the risk of stroke in men and women. Am J Clin Nutr 2012; 95(5): 1190-9

89. Babio N, Bulló M, Basora J, Martínez-González MA, Fernández-Ballart J, Márquez-Sandoval F, Molina C, Salas-Salvadó J; Nureta-PREDIMED Investigators. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and risk of metabolic syndrome and its components. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2009; 19(8): 563-70

90. Toeller M, Frisch A, Müller-Wieland D. Fragebogen zur Erfassung der Nahrungsaufnahme in Risikogruppen (NARI). Diabetologie und Stoffwechsel 2010, 5(5):309-314

91. Bundeslebensmittelschlüssel (BLS). (vollständiger BLS, Lizenz und Updates) Max Rubner Institut, Bundesforschungsinstitut für Ernährung und Lebensmittel, Karlsruhe 2009

92. Prodi. Ernährungsberatungs- und Diätberatungs-Programm 5.6. WVG-Software mit Update auf CD-ROM. Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft mbH (Nutri-Science GmbH) 1999-2008

93. Verordnung über nährwertbezogene Angaben bei Lebensmitteln und die Nährwertkennzeichnung von Lebensmitteln (Artikel 1 der Verordnung zur Neuordnung der Nährwertkennzeichnungsvorschriften für Lebensmittel) (Nährwert-Kennzeichnungsverordnung - NKV) vom 25. November 1994 (BGBI. I S. 3526), zuletzt geändert durch Artikel 1 der Verordnung vom 1. Oktober 2009 (BGBI. I S. 3221)

94. Tiepolt S, Liebert P, Pietrzik K, Toeller M. Verzehrshäufigkeiten ballaststoffhaltiger Lebensmittel bei Diabetikern aus zwei Regionen Deutschlands. Implementierung der Ernährungsempfehlungen der Deutschen Diabetes-Gesellschaft. Aktuel Ernaehr Med 2002; 27: 157-166

95. Tiepolt S, Sowa P, Pietrzik K, Toeller M. Verzehrshäufigkeiten fetthaltiger Lebensmittel bei Diabetikern mit unterschiedlichem Risikoprofil. Aktuel Ernaehr Med 2003; 28: 157-167

96. Tiepolt S, Sowa P, Pietrzik K, Toeller M. Alkoholkonsum von Diabetikern in Deutschland. Ernährungs-Umschau 2003; 50: 332-339

97. Statistisches Bundesamt. Mikrozensus 2011 <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/Bevoelkerung/Bevoelkerungsstand/Tabellen/GeschlechtStaat</u> <u>sangehoerigkeit.html</u>

98. Balkau B, Valensi P, Eschwège E, Slama G. A review of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Metab 2007; 33(6):405-13

99. Wolf-Maier K, Cooper RS, Banegas JR, Giampaoli S, Hense HW, Joffres M, Kastarinen M, Poulter N, Primatesta P, Rodríguez-Artalejo F, Stegmayr B, Thamm M, Tuomilehto J, Vanuzzo D, Vescio F. Hypertension prevalence and blood pressure levels in 6 European countries, Canada, and the United States. JAMA 2003; 289(18): 2363-9

100. Kraja AT, Rao DC, Weder AB, Mosley TH, Turner ST, Hsiung CA, Quertermous T, Cooper R, Curb JD, Province MA. An evaluation of the metabolic syndrome in a large multi-ethnic study: the Family Blood Pressure Program. Nutr Metab 2005; 2: 17

101. Balkau B, Vernay M, Mhamdi L, Novak M, Arondel D, Vol S, Tichet J, Eschwège E; D.E.S.I.R. Study Group. The incidence and persistence of the NCEP (National Cholesterol Education Program) metabolic syndrome. The French D.E.S.I.R. study. Diabetes Metab 2003; 29(5): 526-32

102. Noethlings U, Hoffmann K, Bergmann MM, Boeing H; European Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Portion size adds limited information on variance in food intake of participants in the EPIC-Potsdam study. J Nutr 2003; 133(2): 510-5

103. Black AE. The sensitivity and specificity of the Goldberg cut-off for EI:BMR for identifying diet reports of poor validity. Eur J Clin Nutr 2000; 54(5): 395-404

104. Schofield WN. Predicting basal metabolic rate, new standards and review of previous work. Hum Nutr Clin Nutr 1985; 39(Suppl 1): 5-41

105. Scagliusi FB, Ferriolli E, Pfrimer K, Laureano C, Cunha CS, Gualano B, Lourenço B, Lancha AH. Under-reporting of energy intake is more prevalent in a healthy dietary pattern cluster. Br J Nutr 2008; 100(5): 1060-8

106. Yannakoulia M, Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Bathrellou E, Chrysohoou C, Skoumas Y, Stefanadis C. Low energy reporting related to lifestyle, clinical, and psychosocial factors in a randomly selected population sample of Greek adults: the ATTICA Study. J Am Coll Nutr 2007; 26(4): 327-33

107. Stallone DD, Brunner EJ, Bingham SA, Marmot MG. Dietary assessment in Whitehall II: the influence of reporting bias on apparent socioeconomic variation in nutrient intakes. Eur J Clin Nutr 1997; 51(12): 815-25

108. Gibson RS. Principles of Nutritional Assessment, Second Edition. New York, Oxford, Oxford University Press 2005

109. Cade J, Thompson R, Burley V, Warm D. Development, validation and utilisation of food-frequency questionnaires - a review. Public Health Nutrition 2002; 5(4): 567-87

110. Frisch A, Toeller M, Müller-Wieland D. Ernährungserhebungsmethoden in der Ernährungsepidemiologie. Diabetologie und Stoffwechsel 2010, 5(5): 301-308

111. Severo M, Lopes C, Lucas R, Barros H. Development of a tool for the assessment of calcium and vitamin D intakes in clinical settings. Osteoporosis Int 2009; 20: 231–237

112. Tsugane S, Fahey MT, Kobayashi M, Sasaki S, Tsubono Y, Akabane M, Gey F. Four food-frequency categories of fruit intake as a predictor of plasma ascorbic acid level in middle-aged Japanese men. Ann Epidemiol 1998; 8(6): 378-83

113. Cade JE, Burley VJ, Warm DL, Thompson RL, Margetts BM. Food-frequency questionnaires: a review of their design, validation and utilisation. Nutr Res Rev 2004; 17(1): 5-22

114. Pan A, Sun Q, Bernstein AM, Schulze MB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Hu FB. Red meat consumption and mortality: results from 2 prospective cohort studies. Arch Intern Med 2012; 172(7): 555-63

115. Foster GD, Wyatt HR, Hill JO, McGuckin BG, Brill C, Mohammed BS, Szapary PO, Rader DJ, Edman JS, Klein S. A randomized trial of a low-carbohydrate diet for obesity. N Engl J Med 2003; 348(21): 2082-90

116. Hession M, Rolland C, Kulkarni U, Wise A, Broom J. Systematic review of randomized controlled trials of low-carbohydrate vs. low-fat/low-calorie diets in the management of obesity and its comorbidities. Obes Rev 2009;10(1):36-50

117. Toeller M. Was Ihr Diabetiker essen darf. MMW-Fortschr Med 2006; 17(148. Jg.): 41-46

118. Stockwell T, Donath S, Cooper-Stanbury M, Chikritzhs T, Catalano P, Mateo C. Under-reporting of alcohol consumption in household surveys: a comparison of quantity-frequency, graduated-frequency and recent recall. Addiction 2004; 99(8): 1024-33

119. Perry IJ. Dietary salt intake and cerebrovascular damage. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2000; 10(4): 229-35

120. Volek JS, Phinney SD, Forsythe CE, Quann EE, Wood RJ, Puglisi MJ, Kraemer WJ, Bibus DM, Fernandez ML, Feinman RD. Carbohydrate restriction has a more favorable impact on the metabolic syndrome than a low fat diet. Lipids 2009; 44(4): 297-309

121. Sahyoun NR, Jacques PF, Zhang XL, Juan W, McKeown NM. Whole-grain intake is inversely associated with the metabolic syndrome and mortality in older adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2006; 83(1): 124-31

122. HendersonL, Gregory J, Irving K, Swan G. The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: Adults Aged 19 to 64 Years. Vol 1: Types and Quantities of Foods Consumed. London 2002; The Stationary Office

123. Roos G, Johansson L, Kasmel A, Klumbiené J, Prättälä R. Disparities in vegetable and fruit consumption: European cases from the north to the south. Public Health Nutr 2001; 4(1): 35-43

124. DiBello JR, Kraft P, McGarvey ST, Goldberg R, Campos H, Baylin A. Comparison of 3 ethods for identifying dietary patterns associated with risk of disease. Am J Epidemiol 2008; 168: 1433-1443

125. Vrieling A, Verhage BA, van Duijnhoven FJ, Jenab M, Overvad K, Tjønneland A, Olsen A, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Kaaks R, Rohrmann S, Boeing H, Nöthlings U, Trichopoulou A, John T, Dimosthenes Z, Palli D, Sieri S, Mattiello A, Tumino R, Vineis P, van Gils CH, Peeters PH, Engeset D, Lund E, Rodríguez Suárez L, Jakszyn P, Larrañaga N, Sánchez MJ, Chirlaque MD, Ardanaz E, Manjer J, Lindkvist B, Hallmans G, Ye W, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Roddam A, Key T, Boffetta P, Duell EJ, Michaud DS, Riboli E, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB. Fruit and vegetable consumption and pancreatic cancer risk in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Int J Cancer 2009; 124: 1926-1934

126. Joshipura KJ, Hu FB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB, Speizer FE, Colditz G, Ascherio A, Rosner B, Spiegelman D, Willett WC. The effect of fruit and vegetable intake on risk for coronary heart disease. Ann Intern Med 2001; 134: 1106-1114.

127. Boyington JE, Schoster B, Remmes Martin K, Shreffler J, Callahan LF. Perceptions of individual and community environmental influences on fruit and vegetable intake, North Carolina, 2004. Prev Chronic Dis 2009; 6(1): A04

128. Bazzano LA, Li TY, Joshipura KJ, Hu FB. Intake of fruit, vegetables, and fruit juices and risk of diabetes in women. Diabetes 2008; 31: 1311-1317

129. Utsugi MT, Ohkubo T, Kikuya M, Kurimoto A, Sato RI, Suzuki K, Metoki H, Hara A, Tsubono Y, Imai Y. Fruit and vegetable consumption and the risk of hypertension determined by self measurement of blood pressure at home: the Ohasama study. Hypertens Res 2008; 31: 1435-1443

130. Ta ML, Vaneenwyk J, Bensley L.. Limited percentages of adults in washington state meet the dietary guidelines for americans recommended intakes of fruits and vegetables. J Acad Nutr Diet 2012; 112(5): 699-704

131. Salehi L, Eftekhar H, Mohammad K, Tavafian SS, Jazayery A, Montazeri A. Consumption of fruit and vegetables among elderly people: a cross sectional study from Iran. Nutr J 2010; 9:2

132. de Oliveira Otto MC, Mozaffarian D, Kromhout D, Bertoni AG, Sibley CT, Jacobs DR Jr, Nettleton JA. Dietary intake of saturated fat by food source and incident cardiovascular disease: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Am J Clin Nutr 2012; 96(2):397-404

133. Hjartåker A, Lagiou A, Slimani N, Lund E, Chirlaque MD, Vasilopoulou E, Zavitsanos X, Berrino F, Sacerdote C, Ocké MC, Peeters PH, Engeset D, Skeie G, Aller A, Amiano P, Berglund G, Nilsson S, McTaggart A, Spencer EA, Overvad K, Tjønneland A, Clavel-Chapelon F, Linseisen J, Schulz M, Hemon B, Riboli E. Consumption of dairy products in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort: data from 35 955 24-hour dietary recalls in 10 European countries. Public Health Nutr 2002; 5(6B): 1259-71

134. Soedamah-Muthu SS, Masset G, Verberne L, Geleijnse JM, Brunner EJ. Consumption of dairy products and associations with incident diabetes, CHD and mortality in the Whitehall II study. Br J Nutr 2012; 7: 1-9

135. Hilbig A, Heuer T, Krems C, Straßburg A, Eisinger-Watzl M, Heyer A, Tschida A, Götz A, Pfau C. Wie isst Deutschland? Auswertungen der Nationalen Verzehrsstudie II zum Lebensmittelverzehr. Ernährungs Umschau 2009; 1: 16-23

136. Steffen LM, Vessby B, Jacobs DR Jr, Steinberger J, Moran A, Hong CP, Sinaiko AR. Serum phospholipid and cholesteryl ester fatty acids and estimated desaturase activities are related to overweight and cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents. Int J Obes 2008; 32(8): 1297-304

137. Field AE, Willett WC, Lissner L, Colditz GA. Dietary fat and weight gain among women in the Nurses' Health Study. Obesity 2007; 15(4): 967-76

138. Ishihara J, Sobue T, Yamamoto S, Sasaki S, Tsugane S. Demographics, lifestyles, health characteristics, and dietary intake among dietary supplement users in Japan. Int J Epidemiol 2003; 32: 546–553

139. Lyle BJ, Mares-Perlman JA, Klein BE, Klein R, Greger JL. Supplement users differ from nonusers in demographic, lifestyle, dietary and health characteristics. J Nutr 1998; 128: 2355–2362

140. McNaughton SA, Mishra GD, Paul AA, Prynne CJ, Wadsworth WE. Supplement use is associated with health status and healthrelated behaviors in the 1946 British birth cohort. J Nutr 2005; 135: 1782–1789

141. Rock CL. Multivitamin–multimineral supplements: who uses them? Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85: 277–279

142. Satia-Abouta J, Kristal AR, Patterson RE, Littman AJ, Stratton KL, White E. Dietary supplement use and medical conditions: the VITAL study. Am J Prev Med 2003; 24: 43–51

143. Balluz LS, Okoro CA, Bowman BA, Serdula MK, Mokdad AH. Vitamin or supplement use among adults, behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 13 states, 2001. Public Health Rep 2005; 120: 117–123

144. Schwarzpaul S, Strassburg A, Luhrmann PM, Neuhauser-Berthold M. Intake of vitamin and mineral supplements in an elderly German population. Ann Nutr Metab 2006; 50: 155–162

145. Reinert A, Rohrmann S, Becker N, Linseisen J. Lifestyle and diet in people using dietary supplements: a German cohort study. Eur J Nutr 2007; 46: 165–173

146. Yu SM, Kogan MD, Huang ZJ. Vitamin–mineral supplement use among US women, 2000. J Am Med Womens Assoc 2003; 58: 157–164

147. Li K, Kaaks R, Linseisen J, Rohrmann S. Consistency of vitamin and/or mineral supplement use and demographic, lifestyle and health-status predictors: findings from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Heidelberg cohort. Br J Nutr 2010; 104: 1058–1064

148. Kirk SF, Cade JE, Barrett JH, Conner M. Diet and lifestyle characteristics associated with dietary supplement use in women. Public Health Nutr 1999; 2: 69–73

149. Subar AF, Block G. Use of vitamin and mineral supplements: demographics and amounts of nutrients consumed. The 1987 Health Interview Survey. Am J Epidemiol 1990; 132: 1091–1101

150. Frank E, Bendich A, Denniston M. Use of vitamin–mineral supplements by female physicians in the United States. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 72: 969–975

151. Harrison RA, Holt D, Pattison DJ, Elton PJ. Are those in need taking dietary supplements? A survey of 21 923 adults. Br J Nutr 2004; 91: 617–623

152. Mattes RD, Popkin BM. Nonnutritive sweetener consumption in humans: effects on appetite and food intake and their putative mechanisms. Am J Clin Nutr 2009; 89(1): 1–14

153. Raben A, Vasilaras TH, Moller AC, Astrup A. Sucrose compared with artificial sweeteners: different effects on ad libitum food intake and body weight after 10 wk of supplementation in overweight subjects. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76: 721–9

154. Gardner C, Wylie-Rosett J, Gidding SS, Steffen LM, Johnson RK, Reader D, Lichtenstein AH; on behalf of the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, Council on Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, and the American D. Nonnutritive Sweeteners: Current Use and Health Perspectives: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association and the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2012; 35(8):1798-1808

155. Johansson L, Solvoll K, Bjørneboe GE, Drevon CA. Under- and overreporting of energy intake related to weight status and lifestyle in a nationwide sample. Am J Clin Nutr 1998; 68(2): 266-74

156. Bedard D, Shatenstein B, Nadon S. Underreporting of energy intake from a self-administered food-frequency questionnaire completed by adults in Montreal. Public Health Nutr 2004; 7(5): 675-81

9. List of tables

Table 1: Summary of the most widely used definitions of the Metabolic Syndrome
Table 2: Classification of food items into food groups 12
Table 3: Factors for the assessing of the amounts of the daily intake
Table 4: Baseline characteristics of the study population
Table 5: Added foods (free-write in items) assigned to already defined food or food group codes
Table 6: Added foods (free-write in items), newly coded
Table 7: Reported energy and nutrient intakes per day of male and female study participants
Table 8: Reported mean daily food choices (g/d or ml/d) for male and female study participants by the 85 items
of the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ85)
Table 9: Reported mean daily intakes (g/d or ml/d) of specific food groups in male and female study
participants
Table 10: Reported consumption frequencies of the 85 food items in the Food Frequency Questionnaire
(FFQ85) for male (M) and female (F) study participants
Table 11: Daily dietary patterns of male and female study participants in comparison to the recommendations
of the German Society of Nutrition (DGE) [62]
Table 12: Use of supplements, artificial sweeteners, sugar substitutes and dietetic foods in male and female
study participants
Table 13: Use of specific foods influencing the lipid and glucose metabolism in male and female study
participants

10. List of figures

Figure 1: Reported age-adjusted mean daily nutrient intakes of male and female study participants	2
Figure 2: Differences of reported energy and nutrient intakes (a-j) in 3 age groups, stratified by gender	
(F = female, M= male)	4
Figure 3: Reported mean daily intake of foods (g/d) for male (n=1274) and female (n=613)	
study participants	0
Figure 4: Reported mean daily intake of beverages (ml/d) of male (n=1274) and female (n=613) study	
participants	1
Figure 5: Differences for some regional reported food and beverage intakes within 3 age groups of male (M)	
and female (F) study participants	7
Figure 6: Use of supplements within four age groups, stratified by gender	7
Figure 7: Use of artificial sweeteners and sugar substitutes within four age groups, stratified by gender 4	7
Figure 8: Use of dietetic and low-caloric foods within four age groups, stratified by gender	8
Figure 9: Reported consumption of different oils within four age groups, stratified by gender	9
Figure 10: Reported consumption of different nuts divided into four age groups, stratified by gender	0
Figure 11: Reported consumption of different fish species within four age groups, stratified by gender	1
Figure 12: Reported consumption of different margarines within four age groups, stratified by gender	52

11. Curriculum Vitae

Name	Frisch, Annett
Date of birth	February 12 th 1982
Place of birth	Halle/ Saale
Citizenship	German
Education	
1988 – 1992	Primary School, Halle/ Saale
1992 – 2000	Grammar School, Halle/ Saale
June 2000	Graduate of Grammar School
2000 – 2003	Training to chemical laboratory assistant, Halle/Saale
June 2003	Graduation as Chemical laboratory assistant
2003 – 2008	Study of Nutrition sciences, University of Halle-Wittenberg
December 2008	Graduation as Nutritionist (Diploma)
Research	
Since 2009	PhD thesis, Institute of diabetic and health services research,
	Asklepios proresearch in Hamburg
	Analysis of nutritional patterns in individuals at risk for the
	development of the metabolic syndrome assessed by a food
	frequency questionnaire

Halle/Saale,

12. Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides Statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit "Analysis of nutritional patterns in individuals at risk for the development of the metabolic syndrome assessed by a food frequency questionnaire" selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst habe. Es wurden keine anderen als die in der Arbeit angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt. Die den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Weiterhin erkläre ich, dass ich noch keine vergeblichen Promotionsversuche unternommen habe und die vorliegende Dissertation nicht in der gegenwärtigen bzw. in einer anderen Fassung bereits einer anderen Fakultät / anderen wissenschaftlichen Einrichtungen vorgelegt habe.

Des Weiteren erkläre ich, dass ich keine bestehenden Vorstrafen habe und gegen mich keine anhängigen Ermittlungsverfahren laufen.

Halle/Saale,

13. Acknowledgements

Da diese Dissertationsarbeit nur in der Zusammenarbeit und mit der Unterstützung vieler Mitarbeiter und Kooperationspartner möglich war, möchte ich mich an dieser Stelle bei Allen ganz herzlich bedanken.

Mein wohl größter Dank geht an Frau Dr. med. Monika Toeller an der Heimrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf, Klinik für Endokrinologie, Diabetologie und Rheumatologie, die mich während meiner ganzen Promotionszeit fachlich betreut, unterstützt, gefördert und motiviert hat. Ich danke ihr für die zahlreichen Gespräche, in denen sie mir immer konstruktiv und auch kritisch zur Seite gestanden hat. Auch danke ich Ihr für ihren unermüdlichen Einsatz bei dem Fortgang meiner Arbeit. Es hat mir immer sehr viel Freude bereitet mit ihr zu arbeiten und es war eine große Bereicherung für mich.

Herrn Prof. Dr. med. Dirk Müller-Wieland, Ltd. Arzt der 1. Med. Abt. der Asklepios Klinik St. Georg in Hamburg, danke ich für die Möglichkeit meine Promotionsarbeit am Institut für Diabetologische Versorgungsforschung unter seiner Leitung durchzuführen. Ich danke Ihm für seine Unterstützung, faire Kritik und sein Vertrauen, was er mir entgegen gebracht hat.

Herrn. Prof. Dr. oec. troph. Andreas Müller, Juniorprofessor am Institut für Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaften der Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät III der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, danke ich für die Bereitschaft der Betreuung und Unterstützung meiner Promotionsarbeit am Institut für Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaften.

Weiterhin möchte ich mich bei allen Mitarbeitern des LUPS Teams aus dem Asklepios Klinikum St. Georg in Hamburg sowie aus dem Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf bedanken, ohne deren unermüdlichen Einsatz diese Studie nicht möglich gewesen wäre. Insbesondere danke ich Frau Dr. med. Barbara Sawitzky-Rose, für Ihre sprachlich kritische Durchsicht der Arbeit und für Ihre anhaltende Unterstützung. Auch möchte mich an dieser Stelle bei allen Probanden des LUPS Projektes für Ihre Treue und Teilnahme an der Erhebung bedanken.

Außerdem gilt mein Dank Herrn Prof. Dr. Karl Wegscheider und Herrn Dr. Hans Pinnschmidt aus dem Institut für medizinische Biometrie und Epidemiologie der Universitätsklinik Hamburg-Eppendorf für die biometrische Beratung. Vor allem möchte ich Herrn Dr. Pinnschmidt für seine Hilfe bei den statistischen Auswertungen und bei der Beantwortung meiner statistischen Fragen danken.

Meinen Eltern, meiner "Schwiegerfamilie", meinen Freunden und ganz besonders meiner Mama danke ich für die ständige moralische Unterstützung und das stete Interesse am Fortgang meiner Arbeit.

Ein ganz besonderer Dank gilt meinen Freund Stefan Stranz, der mir immer Mut gemacht hat Herausforderungen anzugehen und mir während der ganzen Zeit mit viel Geduld und Herzenswärme zur Seite stand.